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This Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022 has been prepared and 
published in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2021/22, 
issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015.  
 

The accounting policies adopted by the Council comply with the relevant recommended accounting 

practices and the latest revisions to these from 1 April 2021.  There have been no major changes in the 

Council’s statutory functions during the year.  

 

The Key Accounting Statements 

 

The Statement of Accounts comprises Core Financial Statements and related notes along with 

Supplementary Financial Statements. The Core Financial Statements are as follows:- 

 

• Movement in Reserves Statement – This shows the movement from the start of the year to 

the end on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those 

that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and ‘unusable reserves’. The 

Statement shows how the movements in year of the Council’s reserves are broken down 

between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices 

and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to Council tax for 

the year. The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance 

movements in the year following those adjustments. 

• Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – This Statement shows the accounting 

cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

practices, rather than the amount funded from Council Tax. Councils raise Council Tax to cover 

expenditure incurred in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting 

cost. The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the 

Movement in Reserves Statement. 

• Balance Sheet – This shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 

recognised by the Council. The net assets of the Council (assets less liabilities) are matched 

by the reserves held by the Council. Reserves are reported in two categories; usable and 

unusable. Usable reserves are those reserves that the Council may use to provide services. 

Unusable reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the 

Revaluation Reserve), and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in 

Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 

regulations 

• Cash Flow Statement – The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash 

equivalents of the Council during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Council 

generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing 

and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key 

indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by way of taxation and 

grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Council. Investing activities 

represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended 

to contribute to the Council’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities 

are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the 

Council. 

 

In addition to the core statements outlined above is the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA).  

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from 

resources (government grants, Council tax and business rates) by the Council in comparison with those 

resources consumed or earned by the Council in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

practices. It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the 

Council’s service departments.  
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Supplementary Statement 

 

The Collection Fund is an agent’s statement required by law. It shows transactions that have arisen 

because Pendle Borough Council is a billing authority responsible for the collection and distribution of 

Council Tax and Business Rates on behalf of Central Government and presenting authorities.  In 

addition to Pendle, the major presenting authorities for Council Tax are Lancashire County Council, the 

Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire and the Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service. The 

Collection Fund records the income we receive from local tax payers and the money that is paid out as 

precepts. 

 

The Government introduced the Business Rates Retention scheme in 2013/14 as part of its reform of 

the local government finance regime under which a key objective is to provide an incentive for Councils 

to generate business growth in their locality.  There are also financial risks associated with the scheme 

arising from potential losses due to non-collection and changes in the business rate base as a result of 

appeals by businesses against their rating assessment.  During 2021/22 under this scheme the Council 

retains 40% of total business rate income.  The remainder is apportioned to the Government (50%), the 

County Council (9%) and the Fire Authority (1%) in accordance with regulations governing the scheme.   

 

Our accounting policies are outlined in this document on page 19 and have been fairly and consistently 

applied. We keep proper and up-to-date accounting records and take all reasonable steps to prevent 

and detect fraud and irregularities which might undermine the figures provided in these accounts. 

 

The Director of Resources (DoR) is the statutory officer responsible for the proper administration of the 

Council’s financial affairs. The DoR is required by law to confirm that the Council’s system of internal 

controls and related governance arrangements can be relied upon to produce an accurate Statement 

of Accounts. The DoR’s statement of assurance appears on page 36 of this document.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Statement of Accounts 
Approved by the 

Accounts and Audit Committee 
7th November 2023 

 
 

 
Councillor Ruby Anwar 

Acting Chair 
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The Statement of Accounts has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  It aims to provide information so that members 

of the public, including electors and residents of Pendle, Councillors, partners, stakeholders and other 

interested parties can: 

 

• Understand the overall financial position of the Council and the outturn for 2021/22. 

• Have confidence that the public money with which the Council has been entrusted has been 

used and accounted for in an appropriate manner, and  

• Be assured that the financial position of the Council is sound and secure. 

 

The Council continues to review the content of the accounts as recommended by CIPFA and our 

External Auditor. 

 

This Narrative Report provides information about Pendle, including key issues affecting the Council and 

its accounts. It also provides a summary of the Council’s financial position at 31st March 2022 and 

adopts the following structure:- 

 

1. An introduction to Pendle 

2. Key facts about Pendle 

3. Information about the Council 

4. The 2021/22 revenue budget process and medium term position 

5. The capital programme for 2021/22 and over the medium term 

6. Financial performance of the Council in 2021/22 

7. Non-financial performance of the Council in 2021/22 

8. Overview of strategic risks facing the Council 

9. The financial outlook to 2024/25 

10. Access to further information 

 

 

An introduction to Pendle 
 
 

The Borough of Pendle is situated in north-west 
England on the border between Lancashire and 
Yorkshire. A product of local government 
reorganisation in 1974, it is one of twelve district 
Councils in the county of Lancashire. Together with 
Blackburn-with-Darwen, Burnley, Hyndburn and 
Rossendale it forms part of the Pennine Lancashire 
sub-region. 

 

To the west and south, Pendle shares its border with 

the Lancashire districts of Ribble Valley and Burnley. 

To the southeast Calderdale and Bradford which are 

both part of West Yorkshire, whilst to the north and 

east lies Craven which is in North Yorkshire. 
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Key facts about Pendle 
 

Geography  
 

The Borough covers an area of 169.4 

km2, and takes its name from Pendle 

Hill which stands prominently at a 

height of 557m in the west of the 

Borough. Pendle Hill also forms part of 

the larger Forest of Bowland Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, which 

extends into Ribble Valley and 

Lancaster.  

 
The south of the Borough is comprised 
of an extensive broad valley which is 
highly urbanised. This extends into 
narrower rural steeply sided valleys 
with moorland tops to the north, south 
and east. The north of the borough, 

West Craven is in stark contrast to this landscape with a predominantly rural character marked by 
distinct drumlin features.  
 
The Lancashire Green Belt extends into the Borough from the west, occupying much of the 
undeveloped central part of the M65 urban corridor. The Green Belt fulfils an important function in 
maintaining separation between Nelson, Barrowford, and Colne. Within Pendle there are 329 Listed 
Buildings, 11 scheduled monuments, and 23 Conservation Areas. The built heritage of the Borough 
largely relates to traditional farming landscape and its industrial legacy.  
 
Two-thirds of Pendle’s population is concentrated in four adjoining settlements - Nelson, Colne, 
Brierfield and Barrowford – situated in the south of the Borough. This densely populated urban area 
extends 8km north-east from the boundary with neighbouring Burnley, creating an extended area that 
has a combined population of almost 150,000. To the north, Barnoldswick and Earby are the largest 
settlements in West Craven. 
 
Towns and Villages  
 
 

• Nelson (pop. 33,000) is the largest town in Pendle and its administrative centre. It grew from a 
series of small hamlets during the 18th and 19th Century with industrialisation associated with 
the textile industry. The Nelson Town Centre Masterplan, approved in December 2021, seeks 
to reverse the declining fortunes of the town centre. The Council has received £25 million Town 
Deal funding and has established a Town Deal Board to take the project forward.  

 

• Colne (pop. 16,100) is an attractive market town with medieval origins which sits prominently 
on a ridge. The town centre retains a high proportion of independent retailers such as Boundary 
Mill which can be found at the end of the m65 along with cafes and restaurants lining the high 
street and a number of well used theatres make it a popular night-time destination. The Council 
has just been granted c£6.5 million levelling up Funding for town centre projects. 
 

• Barrowford (pop. 5,040) is a large linear settlement sitting astride the busy A682 and retains 
strong links with the industrial towns to the south and the rural villages Pendle side to the north.  
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• Brierfield (pop. 9,030) is home to former textile mills along the banks of the Leeds and 
Liverpool Canal which have been converted to residential, commercial and retail uses.  

 

• Barnoldswick (pop. 9,650) is the home of the jet engine, with Rolls-Royce making a significant 
contribution to its economy and is a large employer. Silentnight, a manufacturer of beds, is also 
based in the town and is a major employer.  

 

• Earby (pop. 3,130) lies just 3km east of Barnoldswick. The West Craven Business Park has 
attracted new investment and a significant number of jobs into the area.  

 

• The villages and hamlets of rural Pendle are home to over 17,000 people, although the 
population density is very low at only 133 people per square kilometre. The majority reside in 
three larger villages - Foulridge, Fence and Trawden. In the smaller settlements farming 
remains the primary focus of day-to-day life although tourism is increasingly important.  
 

 
Housing 
 
Pendle has deep-seated and challenging housing problems. It was formerly within the Pennine 

Lancashire Housing Market Renewal (HMR) pathfinder, one of just nine in the country that ended in 

2010. In 2020, Pendle had 40,572 household spaces - a major part of this infrastructure (54%) built 

before 1919, more than twice the national average. Of all the Lancashire districts, Pendle has the 

highest proportion of its housing stock (61.5%) in the lowest Council tax band (Band A); with 87% of 

the stock in private ownership. However, there is a significant need for affordable housing in Pendle 

with needs assessed at between 187 and 257 dwellings per year. The Council does not own any 

housing stock, and is reliant on registered providers to meet these needs.  

 

Average property prices within Pendle are less than half 

the national average at £130K. Detached properties, 

given their limited supply, sell for a significant premium in 

contrast to the average position at £280K. House prices 

also vary substantially within the Borough with properties 

at their cheapest within the urban M65 corridor. The 

affordability ratio for Pendle is 4.7 which is significantly 

below the national average. With affordability declining at 

one of the fastest rates in Lancashire, driven by high 

demand in rural areas, limited new stock, low wages and 

the type of housing available for purchase.  

Viability is a significant challenge in the urban areas of 

Pendle. The Council has established a joint venture, PEARL, with local construction company Barnfield 

as a means to encourage regeneration in the Borough. Homes England funding has recently been 

secured for the development of affordable housing schemes on a number of major sites within Nelson 

and Colne. The Council has also been successful in bids for government funding to support the 

regeneration of Colne and Nelson Town Centres attracting investment of £6.5 million (Levelling Up) and 

£25 million (Town Deal) respectively.  

 

There has been a significant reduction in empty properties 

in Pendle over the last few years. As of October 2020, 

there were 1534 empty properties which equates to 3.8% 

of all dwellings that were vacant. As a comparison, the 

average for the districts of Lancashire was 3.6%. Of much 

greater concern is the number of properties which have 

been long-term empty. Of the 765 properties considered 

long-term empty in October 2020, there were 182 empty 

for over five years and 84 empty for over 10 years. All 

empty properties are considered a wasted resource and 

may contribute towards problematic issues such as blight. 

The most recent Pendle House Condition Survey revealed 

that 36.3% failed the Decent Homes Standard and according to the Housing Health and Safety Rating 

System, 22.1% contain a Category 1 hazard. This hazard is excess cold due to the stone construction.  
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Older homes, which dominate the private rented sector, tend to have a lower energy efficiency rating. 

This means that households in the lower income brackets are most susceptible to fuel poverty, as they 

are likely to pay a greater proportion of their income on fuel and keeping warm. With 17% of all 

households considered to be in fuel poverty, tackling this issue remains a key priority for Pendle, 

particularly in parts of Brierfield and Nelson, where one-quarter of all households are estimated to be in 

fuel poverty. The main factors that determine this are the energy efficiency status of the property, the 

cost of energy and low household income. The profile of the rented stock differs markedly from the 

national profile with private rented housing (18.1%) significantly higher than the national average 

(11.0%) and the overall proportion of social rented housing is significantly lower at 11.9% compared to 

18.0%. 

 

Deprivation  

 

The 2019 Indices of Deprivation reveals that Pendle was the 36th most deprived area out of 317 

authorities in England, when measured by the rank of average LSOA rank. This places Pendle within 

the top 11% most deprived places in England. 18 of its 57 LSOAs are among the 10% most deprived 

in the country. Pendle is in the most deprived 20% of the lower-tier Councils in England on the IMD 

average rank measure. In contrast, adjoining Ribble Valley is in the least deprived 20% in England. 

 
Income and Employment 
 
There are around 33,500 jobs within Pendle and 2,950 employers. Only 10 employers based within the 

Borough employ more than 250 people with the majority employing less than five. Around 30% of 

residents in Pendle are employed in the manufacturing industry, with 1 in 10 Pendle businesses in the 

manufacturing sector. This is significantly higher than the regional and national averages and is the 

second highest in England. Pendle forms part of one of the largest aerospace manufacturing clusters 

in Europe which stretches west across Lancashire to the Fylde. Rolls-Royce in Barnoldswick is a core 

part of this cluster. Operations at Rolls-Royce are currently being rationalised following the effects of 

the pandemic on the aerospace industry with significant job losses feared. This is likely to have a knock-

on effect to suppliers also based within the Borough. 

 

The relatively narrow industrial base of Pendle and its reliance on the manufacturing industry means it 

is especially at risk of economic decline. The Borough took significantly longer than the wider region to 

recover from the 2008 economic recession and early data suggests that residents and businesses have 

been hit particularly hard by the economic effects of the pandemic with recovery slower than the regional 

and national average. The industrial base of Pendle also affects wages. Weekly wages (£510.90) are 

lower than the regional (£578) and national averages (£612.80). This disparity is even more significant 

for residents of the Borough (£477.10) with inward commuters tending to take higher paid jobs. The 

lowest wages are concentrated in Brierfield, Nelson and Colne. 

 

The major employment site within the Borough is Lomeshaye which is a relatively modern industrial 

estate built following the development of the M65 motorway. Retail, health and education also make an 

important contribution to the economy of Pendle and are major employers. The largest employer in the 

Borough is Boundary Mill Stores which is based in Colne. Retail presence within the town centres is 

largely made up of small independent outlets – a strength in towns like Colne and Barnoldswick.  

 

Moreover, tourism has increasingly become important to Pendle with visitors attracted by the high 

quality landscape, industrial legacy, and cultural history. The Council has had success in marketing the 

Borough as a destination for cyclists. Pendle is also an important centre for manufacturing bicycles and 

fitness/sports.  

 

Tourism & Recreation 
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Almost 62% of the borough (16,660 hectares) 

is officially designated as open countryside, 

with the three peaks of Pendle (557m, as 

displayed in the image), Weets (397m) and 

Boulsworth (517m) overlooking a gently 

rolling landscape containing some of the most 

interesting and attractive villages in 

Lancashire.   

 

The Leeds and Liverpool Canal is a major 

feature and attraction within both the urban 

and rural areas. Tourism provides an 

increasingly important contribution to the local economy. There are currently 77 attractions and 54 

accommodation providers in the district. 

 

The latest figures available indicate there are almost 3million visitors to Pendle annually, although in 

the last year, this will have been affected by Covid-19. Visitor spend is around £130million per year with 

28% of this from staying visitors. And in normal circumstances, the Tourism and hospitality industry 

supports around 1,700 full time jobs locally. 

 

The Pendle area hosts a number of significant events throughout the year including the Colne Cycling 

Grand Prix, Pendle Walking Festival (one of the UK’s largest free walking festivals) as well as the multi-

award winning Great British Rhythm and Blues Festival attracting thousands of people to the area each 

year.  

 

 

Did you know?  

 

Pendle is most famous for its links to the now notorious witch trials of 1612. Villages like Barley and 

Roughlee have become a tourist attraction and base from which people climb Pendle Hill, or visit 

the home of one of the most famous of the Pendle Witches, Alice Nutter, who has a sculpture built 

of her in the village  

  

 

 

Information about the Council  
 
Our Strategic Plan 2020 - 2023 
 
As a Council we have signed up to the vision we are committed to working with our partners to ensure 
that: 

 

“Pendle is a place where quality of life continues to improve and where people respect 

one another and their neighbourhoods. We want Pendle to be a sustainable place where 

everyone aspires to reach their full potential. We want to be recognised locally, regionally 

and nationally as a great area to live, learn, work, play and visit.” 

 

The purpose of the Plan is to show how the Council will handle the strategic priorities in Pendle. It lists 

the important things that we’ll be doing as a Council, taking into account the pandemic and our 

responses to it, the plan also has links to the Pendle Council Plan for recovery.  

 
Our Financial Strategy is informed by the key priorities. How we intend to achieve our priority outcomes, 
can be found in our individual service plans and target delivery plans/ policies and strategies.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



Borough of Pendle                                            Page 9                    Statement Of Accounts 2021/22 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Council’s four strategic objectives are as follows;  
 

 
 
We want to achieve our vision in a sustainable way. This relies on developing strategies and action 
plans that take account of our values. The principles underpinning this commitment, and by which we 
work, are: 
 

Our Leadership 

STRONG SERVICES: 
Working with partners, the community 

and volunteers to provide sustain 
services of good value 

Through effective partnership working we 
will ensure that we procure and provide 

good value services that meet the needs of 
residents, visitors, and businesses. We will 

prioritise resources accordingly and 
operate decision-making structures that are 

open, transparent and accountable, 
ensuring we keep critical services going. 

STRONG ECONOMY: 
 

Helping to create strong, sustainable 
economic and housing growth 

 
 

We will work with our public sector and 
private sector partners to generate jobs as 
well as economic and housing growth in 

Pendle, in a way that secures its long-term 
economic, environmental and social 

wellbeing. 
 

 
STRONG COMMUNITIES: 

 
Helping to create and sustain resilient 

communities 
 

We will acknowledge and build upon the 
Borough’s diversity, demonstrating our 

community leadership role by working with 
and empowering our partners and local 

people to provide healthy, safe and cohesive 
communities. We will endeavour to maintain 

the quality of our green, rural and urban 
environment, through effective and efficient 

services, education, community and 
voluntary engagement, partnership working 

and, where necessary and appropriate, 
enforcement. 

 

 
STRONG ORGANISATION: 

 
Maintaining a sustainable, resilient and 

efficient organisation which is 
Digital by Default 

 
We will ensure that, as an organisation, we 
are suitably placed to deliver the priorities 
identified for Pendle and its residents. To 

do this we will employ the right people with 
the right skills in the right job. We will 
maintain robust financial processes, 

standards and systems optimising the 
technology and resources we have 

available to us, making us more efficient 
and effective in our service delivery and 

becoming Digital by Default. 
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In 2019, the Council’s Political Make-Up and leadership underwent a review of its electoral 

arrangements by the Local Government Boundary Commission. This reduced the number of Councillors 

from 49 to 33 and the number of wards from 20 to 12. These are a mix of three, two and one single 

member.  The review of electoral arrangements led to all out elections in May 2021 which resulted in a 

majority Conservative administration.  The Council continues to have elections by thirds i.e. a third of 

the councillors are elected every year for 3 years, with no elections in the 4th year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Officer Leadership and Management  

Our senior management structure has, for the last six years, been a Chief Executive/Director model 

along with a number of Service Managers and Heads of Service. As well as providing strategic 

leadership for the Council, both the Chief Executive and Corporate Director have line management 

responsibility for Service Managers and Heads of Service.  

The Chief Executive is the Head of Paid Service, the Corporate Director is the Monitoring Officer and 

Returning Officer, and the Financial Services Manager is the s151 Officer. In 2021 both the Chief 

Executive and Financial Services Manager posts became vacant with their replacements arriving in 

October and November. The Council recognises that as part of the Transformation programme the 

structure is in need of review to ensure that we are providing services in the most efficient and effective 

manner. It also has growing concerns as to whether we have the necessary staffing resources to deliver 

major new initiatives such as the Nelson Town Deal, Levelling Up projects and our participation in the 

development of the County Deal 

A Corporate Peer Challenge was carried out in February 2021 and the Council continues to work 

towards a new organisation structure in 2022/23 but the structure as at 31st March 2022 is shown 

overleaf.       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Party Elected Members 

Conservative 17 

Labour 11 

Liberal 5 

Total 33 

Chief Executive   

(Head of paid services) 

Rose Rouse 

Corporate Director  
(Monitoring officer, returning officers & 

electoral registration officer) 

Philip Mousdale 

Communication

s  

Planning, Economic 

Development & 

Regulatory Services  

Neil Watson  

Financial           

Services 

                           

Richard Gibson  

 

Personal Assistant  

 

Localities and 

Policy  

Housing, Health & 

Engineering 

Services 

                                                                   

Julie Whittaker 

Environmental 

Services  

                              

David Walker   

Legal Services  

 

Howard Culshaw  

Democratic Services  

 

Jane Watson  

Elections  
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The Council’s staffing establishment at the end of March 2022 comprised of 208.0 full time equivalent 

staff. 

The 2021/22 Revenue Budget Process and Medium Term Position 

The Council’s budget process for the year was shaped by the on-going requirement to make reductions 

in net expenditure whilst trying to minimise the impact on front-line services for the people of Pendle. 

Council agreed a budget requirement of £8.431m for 2021/22.  This included a number of savings 

across service and also required a contribution from reserves of £0.588m.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Tax 

 

Council agreed to increase its share of Council tax by £5.39 (1.99%). The Council set a Band D Council 

tax for the year of £276.01. The total Band D Council tax for the year was £2,128.59, an increase of 

3.84% on the previous year made up as follows 

 

£ 2020/21 2021/22 

Pendle Borough Council 270.62 276.01 

Lancashire County Council 1,400.32 1,456.19 

Police & Crime Commissioner 211.45 226.45 

Fire & Rescue Authority 70.86 72.27 

Average Parish 96.60 97.67 

Total Council Tax at Band D 2,049.85 2,128.59 

 

The Council set a Council tax base (expressed as the number of Band D equivalent properties) of 

23,898 which represented a reduction of 1.48% on the previous year of 24,257.6.   

 

Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/22 to 2024/25 

 

The Council’s financial strategy is linked to the corporate objectives outlined above and is based around 

the following 4 themes:- 

• Growing – promoting housing and employment growth 

• Charging – where permissible to recover full costs and develop income streams 

• Saving – reducing net expenditure by means of savings or service efficiencies 

• Stop – stop spending on areas that are lesser priorities or which are no longer priorities 

 

An update of the Council’s medium term financial plan was considered by the Policy and Resources 

Committee in February 2022 covering the plan period to 2024/25.  

 

£’m 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Net Expenditure  14.442 15.362 16.291 17.081 

Less Retained Business Rates -5.419 -5.345 -5.270 -5.197 

Less Revenue Support Grant (1.170) (1.194) (1.218) (1.242) 

Core Government Grant -0.577 -0.142 0.000 0.000 

Gap before Council Tax 7.276 8.681 9.803 10.642 

Council Tax (at 1.99%) (6.596) (6.761) (6.930) (7.103) 

Funding Gap 0.680 1.920 2.873 3.539 
 

The scale of savings required over the next three years represents a significant challenge to the Council 

and work is already underway to develop options for savings. 
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The Capital Programme 
 

The Council is reliant on diminishing receipts from asset disposals, government grant, contributions it 

can make from its revenue budget and what we can afford to borrow. 

 

The Capital Programme for 2021/22 was approved by the Council in February 2021, the overall 

programme was £18.18m.  The final outturn spend was £3.792m with the slippage being driven by 

regeneration schemes, disabled facilities grant and area committee spend.  

 

Capital Expenditure and Income 2021/22 

Our Capital Account is used to record expenditure on the acquisition, improvement and enhancement 

of our assets including, for example, buildings, playing fields and parks. It is also used to account for 

income received by us for capital projects. 

 

In 2021/22, we spent £5.7m on a range of capital projects. This is summarised in the table below which 

indicates the expenditure on those projects compared to the Approved Programme taking into account 

projects which were committed but for which no expenditure was incurred in the year. 

 

Capital Outturn 2021/22 Revised Budget 2021/22 Outturn 2021/22 Var 2021/22 
 

  £000 £000 £000  

Private Sector Housing 3,772 795 (2,977)  

Environmental, Roads, Street Lighting & Road 
safety 1,618 253 (1,365) 

 

Waste collection 170 162 (8)  

Other General Capital Schemes 1,070 570 (500)  

Area Committees 930 386 (544)  

Resource Procurement Schemes 9,599 3,029 (6,570)  

Corporate Property Maintenance 787 138 (649)  

Parks and Recreations Services 731 357 (374)  

TOTAL 18,677 5,690 (12,987)  

 

The variance shown above will be carried forward to support capital expenditure in 2022/23. The table 

below shows the sources of capital income used to meet the cost of capital expenditure in the year: 

 

 

Capital Financing 2021/22 

  

Actual 

£000 

  

Capital Grants and Contributions (including S106 
contributions) 3,300 

Revenue Contributions 771 

Capital Receipts 203 

Prudential Borrowing 1,416 

TOTAL 5,690 
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Service Financial Performance 
 

The Council’s net cost of services was underspent by £0.77m compared to the approved budget for the 

year 2021/22.  The table below provides details of financial performance of individual services.  

 

 

        

Service Area – Revenue Outturn Approved Budget 
Actual 

Expenditure 

Over/ 
(Under) 
Spend 

  2021/22          £000 2021/22      £000 £000 

Directorate 790 677 (113) 

Financial Services 4,562 3,442 (1,120) 

Democratic & Legal Services 1,130 1,020 (110) 
Planning, Building Control and Regulatory 

Services 1,075 430 (645) 

Environmental Services 5,061 5,186 125 

Housing, Health and Engineering 2,155 2,478 323 

Human Resources (Liberata Service) 138 122 (16) 

Information Technology (Liberata Service) (50) (142) (92) 

Property Service (Liberata Service) 122 1,056 934 

Revenue and Benefits (Liberata Service) 1,603 2,201 597 

Net Cost of Services 16,585 16,468 (117) 

 

 

The General Fund Working Balance 

In view of the out-turn position outlined above on our General Fund Revenue Account for the year, it 

has not been necessary to draw on the General Fund Working Balance. At 31st March 2022 the Council 

retained a General Fund Working Balance of £1.0m.  This is unchanged from the position reported for 

the previous year. 

Treasury Management (Borrowings and Investments) 

At 31st March 2022, the Council’s long term borrowing was £20.359m, reduction of £1.0m during the 

year. The overall cost of debt at 31st March 2022 was 2.94%. 

The balance of investments at 31st March 2022 was £20.5m (compared to £11.5m at the beginning of 

the financial year). The investment return achieved for the year was 0.08% reflecting in the main the 

historically low Bank Rate. 

Pension Fund 

The pension liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using an estimate of the pensions that 

will be payable in future years, taking into account assumptions about inflation and mortality rates, 

salary levels, factors which can vary over time.  The pension liabilities will not become due immediately 
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or all at once as they relate to estimated pensions payable to current scheme members on their normal 

retirement date. The position reported simply represents a snapshot as at the Balance Sheet date based 

on prevailing market and other economic conditions and assumptions. As such it may fluctuate 

markedly from one year to the next. 

 
Revenue Reserves 
 

As at 31st March 2022 the pre-audit balance of revenue reserves is £11.057m (including External 

Funding Receipts and Developers’ Contributions). Of this amount, £1.0m represents the Council’s 

General Fund Working Balance with £10.057m held in specific earmarked reserves. Included within 

specific reserves is the Budget Strategy Reserve (£1.514m at 31st March 2022) which is used to support 

future General Fund expenditure. 

 

 

 
 
Non-Financial Performance of the Council in 2021/22 
 

The Council has a robust performance management process to ensure that our plans and strategies 

have the desired effect and are delivering effective outcomes. Once the Strategic Plan has been agreed 

by the Council it is managed through a corporate performance management system and monitored by 

the Policy and Resources Committee. 

 

The methods by which we measure our progress in delivering our priorities and achieving our desired 

outcomes include monitoring our locally driven performance indicator set and our Life in Pendle Survey 

(which is our Resident Satisfaction survey). The performance indicator set is reviewed on an annual 

basis to ensure it remains relevant and meaningful and the Life in Pendle Survey is undertaken every 

two years. 

 

Our Strategic Plan identifies our priorities and objectives and details on how we plan to deliver them.  It 

is supported by the Service Plans. These are used by Service Managers of each service group 

(including Liberata) as part of the day-to-day management of our services and set out what the service 

aims to deliver over the coming year and the performance targets it strives to meet. In turn these are 

also linked to the individual performance management reviews (PMRs) for all staff.  
 

The table below provides a summary highlighting our progress over the last financial year against our 
core strategic objectives  
 

 

Strong Services  
 

• The Council has secured a £6.5m levelling 
up and £25m town deal fund, for Colne and 
Nelson respectively. Work is currently 
underway to execute these projects  

• An interim Transformation Director is in post 
providing the Council with the necessary 
resource required to identify and deliver 
efficiency and service improvement 
opportunities in line with our objectives  

• The Council delivered the leisure, hospitality 
and omicron grant scheme providing 
support of over £570k to local eligible 
businesses  

• The Council has also, alongside Liberata, 
delivered the government’s £150 energy 
rebate scheme  

 

Strong Economy  
 

• Delivery of phase 1 of the extension to the 
Lomeshaye industrial estate is progressing 
with work completed on the construction of 
the access road, with provision of new 
services being 90% complete 

• PEARL2 is continuing with the delivery of new 
housing. With 32 new properties now being 
sold at Langroyd Place – the former Oak Mill 
site.  

• Funding for the YES Hub project has been 
signed off by the government in March 2022 
and work is underway in delivering this project  

• The redevelopment of Northlight continues 
with 40 properties in phase 1 being 
completed, with 5 remaining to be sold 
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Strong Communities  
 

• Funding secured of £60,000 for ‘Back on 
Track’ initiatives to enhance capacity for 
community mental health support to aid 
COVID-19 recovery  

• The Council’s proposals for the introduction 
of a household battery recycling collection 
scheme and promotional campaign for foil 
recycling were agreed by Policy & 
Resources Committee in March 2022  

• The new climate action grants for schools 
and community groups was launched during 
the Big Green Week and Recycle Week 
(Mid-September). Encouraging candidates 
to apply for grants up to £1500, and £1000 
respectively for local climate initiatives 
 

 

Strong Organisation  
 

• The introduction of the Agile Working Policy 
has taken place which will enable a more 
agile way of working for staff and how we 
deliver our services. Staff are now 
encouraged to return to the office 2 days per 
week with a view to progressing 3 days per 
week in the near future  

• The JADU customer relationship management 
system continues to be developed across 
services to streamline processes.  

• Replacement of the current Mitel telephony 
system has been approved by the Policy & 
Resources Committee, in order to facilitate 
remote and mobile working. The telephony 
upgrade project will move the Council to a 
Microsoft Teams telephony solution  
 

 
 
 
Key Performance indicators  
 
The Council has adopted a basket of 29 corporate key performance indicators (KPIs) which have been 
devised to provide Councillors with a gauge of performance representing a range of services delivered 
by and on behalf of the Council. This allows the Council to optimise the delivery of our strategic 
objectives. A full report setting out the performance for the year on each of these key indicators was 
reported to the Policy and Resources Committee in July 2022 and can be viewed at 
(www.pendle.gov.uk). A summary follows below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Given the unprecedented situation and the continuing impacts of the pandemic, performance on the 
whole is considered to be fairly good across the Key Performance Indictors despite a large number of 
targets not having been met. However, it is important to note that it is difficult to fully compare / analyse 
performance as some targets for Liberata KPIs were not formally agreed for the year.  For the purposes 
of the performance reports, we used the targets originally proposed by the Council for those KPIs where 
agreement could not be reached to enable some insight into performance for this period. 
 
In total, the Council had 87 corporate performance indicators (PIs) including some of the KPIs outlined 
above which are classed as ‘key’ and reported externally.   
Of the 81 Corporate PIs reported on, performance could only be measured against 67.   
 
Performance could not be assessed against 17 PIs because they are ‘Data Only’ PIs.  This means that 
targets have not been set either due to the nature of the PI (e.g. monitoring trends), or because they 
are feeder PIs and are provided for information / context.  

10

3
11

5

KPI Performance Against Target: April 2021 - 
March 2022 

On Target

Slightly Off Target

Significantly Below Target

Data only

http://www.pendle.gov.uk/
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There are also 3 PIs reported annually (2 relating to carbon dioxide emissions reduction and one being 
the % of sickness absence due to work related injury and / or work related ill health) which have time 
lags in data reporting due to the complex data collection processes involved. 
 
The summary below shows how these 67 PIs have performed during the period April 2021 – March 
2022. 41 (61.2%) of our PIs are performing on or above target whilst 38.8% are underperforming (22 
(32.8%) are Red and 4 (6%) are Amber).   The summary from the previous year has also been provided 
as a comparison albeit that there were 81 PIs reported on in that year. 
 
 

   
 
All the PIs that have underperformed in 2021/22 against the set targets have been presented to the 
Chief Executive and Corporate Director regarding the performance achieved and subsequently reported 
to the Council’s Management Team for collective consideration and review.   For more information on 
our performance management arrangements please contact the Finance Team at the address shown 
at the end of this report. 

 
Overview of Strategic Risks facing the Council 
 

We endeavour to ensure that risk is managed across all of our activities. Our Risk Management 

Framework, supported by our performance management system, allows us to manage business risks 

in a measured way. It also provides a more robust approach to business planning and better informed 

decision making fostering a culture where uncertainty does not slow progress or stifle innovation. This 

ensures that our commitment and resources produce positive outcomes for the people who live and 

work in Pendle.  
 

Our strategic risk register is a key component in ensuring that significant projects and programmes are 

delivered and address issues such as meeting community expectations, compliance with legal 

obligations, resource gaps and workforce development. Our Service Impact Assessments within the 

Service Planning process will identify gaps linked to equality, cohesion, health and community safety, 

alongside costs and legal obligations. We also use our approach to risk management to identify and 

drive opportunities for service development. 

 

The Strategic Risk Register is reported periodically to the Accounts and Audit Committee.  When last 

reported in March 2022, a number of the top key strategic risks faced by the Council were identified as 

follows:- 

 

34

3

28

Performance against Target:  
April 2020 - March 2021

Performing on target

Performing slightly
below target

Performing
significantly below
target

41
4

22

Performance against Target:  
April 2021 - March 2022

Performing on target

Performing slightly
below target

Performing
significantly below
target

 

Strategic Objectives 

 

 
Risk (2021/2022) 

 

ALL KEY OBJECTIVES 

 

 

The Medium term financial plan is not sustainable 

 Major Disaster affecting delivery of Council services 
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Each risk is assigned to nominated officers and the overall framework is monitored regularly by the 

Corporate Governance Working Group.  The Council’s updated Risk Management Strategy and Policy 

Statement was formally approved by Council in December 2021.  

 

Further to this, the Council is currently undertaking a comprehensive review of the Strategic Risk 

Register and key officers have participated in a Risk Management Training Workshop.  The updated 

Strategic Risk Register will be more focussed on the current climate and issues facing the Council whilst 

also being much easier to digest, providing an immediate understanding of the risks facing the Council 

and the timescales and plans for mitigating actions. 

 

The Financial Outlook to 2024/25 

 

Since 2010 the Council has experienced a significant reduction in funding from Central Government as 

the Government prioritised reducing the national deficit and implemented a range of austerity measures. 

Since then the Council has continuously reviewed services to look at ways of reducing costs whilst 

maintaining service provision.  The current pressures on the Council are accurately reflected in the 

shortfall in funding over the medium term strategy.  

 

There remains a huge degree of uncertainty around the future funding of local government and the 

extent to which Central Government wish to fund local services.  

 

The Council continues to work hard to provide much needed local services within the resources 

available to it.  

 

Access to Further Information 

If you would like to receive further information about the Statement of Accounts please contact the 

Finance Team at Number 1 Market Street, Nelson, BB9 7LJ. 

 

 

 

STRONG SERVICES 

Increased Health Inequalities – Failure to deliver an 

improvement to the general health of Pendle’s residents; 

Arrangements for Public Health in Lancashire fail to deliver 

health improvements in Pendle 

National crisis affecting delivery of Council services 

Financial position of Leisure Trust resulting in inability to 

provide existing level of service 

Climate Change, in particular the need to reduce our use of 

Single Use Plastics. 

 

 

 

 

STRONG ECONOMY 

Failure to optimise Pendle’s economic growth / development 

within the region 

Failure to deliver a balanced housing market with reference 

to need and demand 

Failure to make an impact on young people were it is 

necessary to improve poor educational attainment 

Failure to bring development forward in line with the 
adopted Core Strategy leading to missed opportunities for 

growth in employment and housing 

 

Poor road, rail and digital connectivity prevents growth 

 

STRONG COMMUNITIES 

 

Universal credit impacts on the Council’s contract with 

Liberata 

STRONG ORGANISATION 

Risk of serious data breach and failure to comply with 

General Data Protection Regulation ( GDPR) 

Impact on Council’s capacity/ viability of organisational 

change linked to on-going reductions in funding for local 

government 
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Richard Gibson 

Director of Resources (s151 Officer) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING 
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N.B. These policies form part of the notes to the accounts. 

1. General Principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2021/22 financial year 

and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2022. The Council is required to prepare an annual 

Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 which those regulations 

require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices.   

 

These practices under Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2003 primarily comprise the Code 

of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 supported by 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under section 

12 of the 2003 Act.  

 

The Council’s accounts are prepared on a ‘going concern’ basis i.e. that its functions and services 

will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. An assessment is undertaken 

each year of the Council as a going concern for the purposes of producing the Statement of 

Accounts. The outcome of the most recent assessment was reported to the Accounts and Audit 

Committee in March 2022 and can be viewed at www.pendle.gov.uk. 

 

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 

modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.  

 

2. Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made 

or received. In particular: 

• Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of 

goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are transferred to the service 

recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract. 

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap 

between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as 

inventories (stock) on the Balance Sheet; 

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are 

recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are 

made;  

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively 

as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 

instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 

paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet subject 

to a de-minimus level of £500.  Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of 

debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 

collected. 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that 
mature within 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management. 
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4. Exceptional Items 

When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, 
either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to 
the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the Council’s 
financial performance.  
 

5. Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 

material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the 

current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.  

 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or 

the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other 

events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or financial performance. Where a 

change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 

balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been 

applied. 

 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 

opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.  

 
6. Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record 

the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:  

• Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service  

• Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off  

• Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service  

The Council is not required to raise Council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment 

losses or amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue 

towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement (equal to an amount calculated on a 

prudent basis determined by the Council in accordance with statutory guidance). Depreciation, 

revaluation and impairment losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by the Minimum 

Revenue Provision (MRP) contribution, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital 

Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.  

 
7. Employee Benefits 

Benefits Payable during Employment  

 

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-

end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave 

and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense 

for services in the year in which employees render service to the Council. An accrual is made 

for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by 

employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next 

financial year.  The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following 

accounting year, being the period in which the employees take the benefit.  The accrual is 

charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the 

Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday entitlements are charged to revenue in the 

financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
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Termination Benefits  

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate 

an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept 

voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to 

the appropriate service segment or, where applicable, to a corporate service segment in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the Council can no 

longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Council recognises costs for a 

restructuring. 

 

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require 

the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension 

fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 

standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the 

Pension Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination 

benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and 

any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  

 

Post-Employment Benefits  

Employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, 

administered by Lancashire County Council.  The scheme provides defined benefits to members 

(retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees worked for the Council. 

 

The Local Government Pension Scheme  

 The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 
 

• The liabilities of the Lancashire County Council pension scheme attributable to the Council 

are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method –

i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 

earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee 

turnover rates, etc. and projected earnings for current employees.  

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the 

indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.  

• The assets of the Lancashire County Council pension fund attributable to the Council are 

included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value:  

o quoted securities – current bid price.  

o unquoted securities – professional estimate.  

o unitised securities – current bid price.  

o property – market value.  

 

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

• Service cost comprising: 

o Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned 

this year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the 

services for which the employee worked. 

o Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or 

curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to 

the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. 
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o Net interest on the defined benefit liability (asset) i.e. net interest expense for the 

Council – the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that 

arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. This is 

calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation 

at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning 

of the period – taking into account any charges in the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. 

• Remeasurements comprising: 

o The return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

o Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because 

events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 

because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions 

Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.    

• Contributions paid to the Lancashire County Council pension fund – cash paid as employer’s 

contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.  

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be 

charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in 

the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the 

Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the Pensions 

Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with 

debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but 

unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 

measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement 

benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.  

 
Discretionary Benefits 

 

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in 

the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any 

member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for 

using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 
8. Events After the Reporting Period 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that 

occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is 

authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:  

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – 

the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events.  

• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement 

of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would 

have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their 

estimated financial effect.  

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 

Accounts. 
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9. Financial Instruments 

Financial Liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to 

the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and 

are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable 

are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 

instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  

 

For most of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the 

Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged 

to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year 

according to the loan agreement.  

 

Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to 

the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement. However, where repurchase has 

taken place as part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or 

exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or 

added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an 

adjustment to the effective interest rate. 

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread 

over future years. The Council has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was 

remaining on the loan against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it 

was repaid. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund Balance is managed 

by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in 

Reserves Statement. 

 
Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects 

the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow characteristics. There are 

three main classes of financial assets measured at:  

• amortised cost  

• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and  

• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  

The authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial 

assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except for those whose contractual payments 

are not solely payment of principal and interest (i.e. where the cash flows do not take the form of 

a basic debt instrument).  
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Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost  

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the 

authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 

measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits 

to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the 

asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans that the 

Council has made, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 

principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 

For most of the financial assets held by the authority, this means that the amount presented in 

the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest 

credited to the CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.  

If the authority were to make a loan at less than market rate (soft loan), a loss would be recorded 

in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the interest that will be 

foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than the outstanding 

principal.  

Interest is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at 

a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable from the voluntary 

organisations, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance 

Sheet. Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is 

the interest receivable for the financial year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and credited 

to the CIES to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer 

to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 

Statement.  

Any gains and losses that arise on derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.  

Expected Credit Loss Model (Material Items) 

The authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised 

cost [or where relevant FVOCI], either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss 

model also applies to lease receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised 

for trade receivables (debtors) held by the authority.  

Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not 

take place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part 

in assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially 

recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly 

or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses. 

Financial assets are classified as Financial Assets at amortised cost – assets that have fixed or 

determinable payments but are not quoted in an active market; 

  

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that 

payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge made 

to the relevant service (for receivables specific to that service) or the Financing and Investment 

Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The 

impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present 

value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited/debited to the 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. 
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10. Government Grants and Contributions 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party 

contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council when there is reasonable 

assurance that:  

• The Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and  

• The grants or contributions will be received.  

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied.  

 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 

embodied in the asset in the form of the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by 

the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to 

the transferor. 
 

Monies advanced as grant and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 

carried in the Balance sheet as creditors (receipts in advance). When conditions are satisfied, 

the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and 

contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure (non-ringfenced 

revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 

they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 

Grants Unapplied Reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment 

Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital 

Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 

 
11.  Heritage Assets  
 

Tangible and Intangible Heritage Assets (described in this summary of significant accounting 
policies as heritage assets). 

 
A tangible heritage asset is a tangible asset with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, 
geophysical or environmental qualities that is held and maintained principally for its contribution 
to knowledge and culture.  
 
An intangible heritage asset is an intangible asset with cultural, environmental or historical 
significance. Examples of intangible heritage assets include recordings of significant historical 
events.  
 
The Council’s Heritage Assets primarily comprise Civic Regalia and public realm assets which 
are held in support of the primary objective of increasing the knowledge, understanding and 
appreciation of the Council’s history and local area. Heritage Assets are recognised and 
measured (including the treatment of revaluation gains and losses) in accordance with the 
Council’s accounting policies on property, plant and equipment. However, some of the 
measurement rules are relaxed in relation to heritage assets as detailed below. The accounting 
policies in relation to heritage assets that are deemed to include elements of intangible heritage 
assets are also presented below.  

The Council’s collection of heritage assets is accounted for as follows: 

• Civic Regalia 

The collection of civic regalia comprises the following: 

• Various chains, pendants, badges of Office 

• Silver Mace / Silver Crib 
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• Engraved ceremonial spades / trowels  

• Documents relating to the granting of the Town Charter  / Coat of Arms (Nelson) 

• Coat of Arms (Pendle) 

• Various miscellaneous items including clocks, models, silver cups/bowls 

• Civic robes, hats and gloves 

These items are carried on the Balance Sheet at a market valuation for insurance purposes. 

The collection of civic regalia is deemed to have an indeterminate life and a high residual value; 

hence the Council does not consider it appropriate to charge depreciation. The collection is 

relatively static and no further acquisitions or donations are expected.  

 

• The Shuttle, Nelson Town Centre 

The Shuttle monument formed the centrepiece of public realm improvements carried out by the 
Council in Nelson Town Centre during 2010/11 and 2011/12.  The Shuttle is a 12m high steel 
sculpture of a weaving shuttle designed to celebrate the town's importance in the industrial 
revolution and the growth of the cotton industry. It is made from weathered steel to give it the 
same rusted colour as a traditional wooden shuttle. It is surrounded by granite blocks engraved 
with local phrases and a mill song.  The Shuttle stands at the junction of Market Street and 
Scotland Road, and has a seated area around it and was officially unveiled in mid-August 2011.  
The Shuttle is reported on the Balance Sheet at cost (£36k). 

 

• War Memorials and Other Heritage Assets 

The Council is responsible for the preservation and maintenance of a number of war memorials 
in the following locations: 

- Wellhouse Road, Barnoldswick 

- Kelbrook Road, Barnoldswick 

- Off Colne Road, Barrowford 

- Colne Road, Brierfield 

- Albert Road, Colne 

- Market Square, Nelson 

- Colne Road, Earby 

The memorials include stone cenotaphs, stone sculptures and memorial gardens. The 
memorials are not recognised on the Balance Sheet as reliable cost or valuation information is 
not readily available.  Another example of a Heritage Asset is the bust of Wallace Hartley which 
stands in Colne.  Wallace Hartley was the bandmaster on the Titanic which sank in 1912.  In 
1915 a statue of Wallace was erected in Colne funded by voluntary contributions to 
commemorate the heroism of a native of the town.  As reliable cost or valuation information is 
not readily available the statue is not recorded on the Balance Sheet. 

 
 Heritage Assets – General 
 

The carrying amounts of heritage assets are reviewed where there is evidence of impairment 
for heritage assets, e.g. where an item has suffered physical deterioration or breakage or where 
doubts arise as to its authenticity. Any impairment is recognised and measured in accordance 
with the Council’s general policies on impairment – see note 16 in this summary of significant 
accounting policies. 
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12. Intangible Assets 

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by 

the Council as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected 

that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Council.  

Internally generated assets are capitalised where it is demonstrable that the project is technically 

feasible and is intended to be completed (with adequate resources being available) and the 

Council will be able to generate future economic benefits or deliver service potential by being 

able to sell or use the asset. Expenditure is capitalised where it can be measured reliably as 

attributable to the asset and is restricted to that incurred during the development phase (research 

expenditure cannot be capitalised). 

Expenditure on the development of websites is not capitalised if the website is solely or primarily 

intended to promote or advertise the Council’s goods or services. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value 

of the assets held by the Council can be determined by reference to an active market. In practice, 

no intangible asset held by the Council meets this criterion, and they are therefore carried at 

amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to 

the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired 

– any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an 

intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement. 

 

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 

amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an 

impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the 

General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital 

Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts 

Reserve. 

 

13. Interests in Companies and other Entities 

The Council has interests in other companies that have the nature of joint venture arrangements 

but considers these not sufficiently material to require the preparation of group accounts.  This 

assessment is reviewed annually. 

 
14. Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to 

the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.  Where a lease covers both land 

and buildings, the land and buildings element are considered separately for classification.  

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in 

return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is 

dependent on the use of specific assets. 

 
The Council as Lessee  

Finance Leases  

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at 

the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present 

value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability 

for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the authority are added to the carrying 
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amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease 

liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.  

 

Lease payments are apportioned between:  
 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied 
to write down the lease liability, and  
 

• a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

Property, plant and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the 

policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease 

term if this is shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does 

not transfer to the authority at the end of the lease period).  

The authority is not required to raise Council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and 

impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from 

revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements. 

Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue 

contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital 

Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.  

Operating Leases  

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or 

equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does 

not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the 

lease). 

 
The Council as Lessor  

 
Finance Leases 

 

Leases of Council-owned land are, subject to materiality, not accounted for as a finance lease 

unless the term of the lease exceeds 150 years in which case, it is treated as an operating lease.  

Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 

relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At the commencement of the 

lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and 

Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A 

gain, representing the Council’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal 

(i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease 

(long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease 

debtor (together with any premiums received), and 

• finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not 

permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a 

capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund 

Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
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Where the amount due in relation to the leased asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals 

in future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital 

Receipts Reserve. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for 

the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital 

receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council tax, as the cost of non-current 

assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 

therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the 

Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 

Operating Leases 

 

Where the authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, 

the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating 

Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on 

a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments 

(e.g. there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and 

charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

 

15. Overheads and Support Services 

The cost of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance 

with the authority’s arrangements for accountability and financial performance. 

 
16. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 

services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used 

during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.. 

 

Recognition: expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 

Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future 

economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an 

asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and 

maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 

 

Measurement: assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  

• the purchase price;  

• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to 

be capable of operating in the manner intended by management; 

• the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site 

on which it is located. 

The Council does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction. 

The costs of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the 

acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a variation in the cash 

flows of the Council).  In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of 

the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Council. 

Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value and any 

consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure 

line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been 

made conditionally.  Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.  

Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are 
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reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement 

in Reserves Statement. 

 

 

 

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:  

• surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated at highest and 

best use from a market participant’s perspective; 

• all other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset 

in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an 

asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value.  Where non-

property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost 

basis is used as a proxy for current value. 

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure 

that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year-end, but 

as a minimum land and buildings are revalued every five years.  Increases in valuations are 

matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Exceptionally, 

gains might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services where they arise 

from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service. 

Where decreases in value are identified they are accounted for by:  

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 

accumulated gains).  

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or insufficient balance, the carrying 

amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement.  

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date 

of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the 

Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Impairment 

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may 

be impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, 

the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount 

of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:  

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the 

carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the 

accumulated gains).  

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or insufficient balance, the carrying 

amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant 

service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of 

the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been 

recognised. 

 
Depreciation 
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Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic 

allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets 

without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) and 

assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  Depreciation is 

calculated using the reducing balance method adopting the following annual percentages:  

 

• Buildings (Sports Centres)     5% 

• Buildings (Other)      2% or 10% 

• Vehicles, Plant and Equipment    25%  

• Community Assets      0% or 2% 

 

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has major components whose cost is significant 
in relation to the total cost of the asset, the components are depreciated separately. In 
considering whether or not there is a component the policy followed is:  

• The land element will continue to be considered as a separate asset with its own valuation 

which, except in very unusual circumstances, will not be subject to depreciation. 

• For any Property, Plant and Equipment with a value above £750,000 consideration will be 

given as to whether or not there is any significant part which requires a separate component. 

For the purposes of this exercise it is considered that an element that has a cost which is 

more than 20% of the total cost of the asset is significant.  

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current 

value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable 

based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the 

Capital Adjustment Account. 

 

Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale 

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 

through the sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset 

Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the 

lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to 

fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up 

to the amount of any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified 

back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were 

classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have 

been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at 

the date of the decision not to sell. 

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale. 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the 

Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to 

the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same 

line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on 

disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any 

revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the 

Capital Adjustment Account.  

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. The 

balance of receipts remains within the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for 

new capital investment or set aside to reduce the Council’s underlying need to borrow (the capital 

financing requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance 
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in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council tax, as the cost of non-current 

assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  Amounts are 

appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement 

in Reserves Statement. 

 
 

17. Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

Provisions 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or constructive 

obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service 

potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  For instance, the 

Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement 

or the payment of compensation.  

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council becomes aware of the obligation, 

and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the expenditure required to 

settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.  

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance 

Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes 

less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement 

than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. 

 

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from 

another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant 

service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Council settles the 

obligation. 
 

Contingent Liabilities 

 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 

obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 

future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in 

circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an 

outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 

 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 

accounts. 

 

Contingent Assets 

 

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible asset 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events 

not wholly within the control of the Council. 

 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 

where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 

 
18. Reserves 

The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 

contingencies. Reserves are created by transferring amounts out of the General Fund Balance 

in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is 

incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit 

on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The 

reserve is then transferred back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 

Statement so that there is no net charge against Council tax for the expenditure. 
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Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 

instruments, local taxation, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable 

resources for the Council – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 

 
For further details of the Council Usable and Non-usable reserves, see Notes 20 and 21 to the 

Core Financial Statements. 

 
19. Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does 

not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the relevant 

service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year.  Where the Council 

has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by 

borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to 

the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact 

on the level of Council tax. 

 
20. VAT 

Value Added Tax (VAT) payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not 

recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.  

 
21. Fair Value Measurement 

The Council also measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and 
investment properties and some of its financial instruments such as equity shareholdings [other 
financial instruments as applicable] at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset 
takes place either: 

 
a) in the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
b) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 
The Council uses Liberata Property Services to provide a valuation of its surplus property assets 
in line with the highest and best use definition within the accounting standard. The highest and 
best use of the asset being valued is considered from the perspective of a market participant. 

 
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of the Council’s fair value measurement of its surplus 
property assets are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the authority can 
access at the measurement date. 

 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, 
either directly or indirectly. 

 
Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset. 

 
The Council’s surplus assets are judged to be Level 2. 

 
22. Collection Fund 

 

The Council is required by statute to maintain a separate fund for the collection and distribution 

of amounts due in respect of Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR). The 

Statutory Collection Fund (England) Statement is included as a supplementary statement in the 

accounts. In its capacity as billing authority the Council acts as an agent. During 2021/22 the 

Council collected and distributed NNDR on behalf of itself, the Government, Lancashire County 

Council and Lancashire Combined Fire Authority. Council Tax was collected and distributed on 

behalf of the Borough Council, the major preceptors, as per NNDR, as well as the Police and 

Crime Commissioner for Lancashire and local town and parish Councils.   
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Council Tax accrued income for the year and Council Taxpayers debtors, creditors and provision 

for bad debts at the 31 March are shared between the major preceptors and the Council based 

on their percentage share of the total demands/precepts for the year.  Business rates accrued 

income for the year as well as business ratepayers, debtors, creditors and impairment allowance 

for doubtful debts and appeals are shared between the Council, Government and the major 

preceptors. 

 

Collection Fund Debtors are reviewed collectively at the Balance Sheet date by debt type and 

provision is made for impairment based on the historical evidence of default in each category. 

The Council’s share of the Collection Fund Debtors shown in the Balance Sheet is net of this 

impairment. 

 

In accordance with the current accounting code of practice the Council’s Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement includes its share of accrued Council tax and business rates income. 

Where this amount is more or less than the amount to be credited to the General Fund under 

statute, there is an adjusting transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement, between the 

General Fund Balance and the Collection Fund Adjustment Account. This account holds the 

Council’s share of the Collection Fund Surplus or Deficit at the 31 March. The Council’s Balance 

Sheet includes the net creditor/debtor position with the Government and major preceptors for 

taxes collected on their behalf and not yet paid to them or taxes paid to them but not yet collected 

from taxpayers. 
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FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
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The Council’s responsibilities 

 

The Council is required to:- 

 

• make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one 

of its officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Council that 

officer is the Director of Resources (as the Council’s designated s151 Officer);  

 

• manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard 

its assets; 

 

• approve the Statement of Accounts. 

 

The Director of Resources’ responsibilities (as s151 Officer for the Council) 

 

As the Director of Resources, I am responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of 

Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC 2021/22 Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code’). 

 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts I have:- 

 

• selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; 

 

• made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 

 

• complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

 

I have also:- 

 

• kept proper and up to date accounting records; 

 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Council at the reporting date and its expenditure and income for the year ended 31st March 2022.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Richard Gibson, FCPFA 

Director of Resources (S151 Officer) 
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This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the authority, analysed 

into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and 

other reserves. The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost 

of providing the authority’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to 

the General Fund Balance for Council tax setting purposes. The Net Increase/Decrease before 

Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any 

discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Council. 
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  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

Balance at 31 March 2021 7,253 -    1,640 908 9,801 (4,972) 4,829 
        

Movement in reserves during 2020/21        
 
         
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 191 -    -    -    191 (6,056) (5,865) 

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding 
basis under regulations (Note 6) 5,956 -    (1,168) 968 5,756 (5,756) -    

Net Increase / Decrease before Transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 6,147 -    (1,168) 968 5,947 (11,812) (5,865) 

        

Balance at 31 March 2021 13,400 -    472 1,876 15,748 (16,784) (1,036) 
        

Movement in reserves during 2021/22        
 
         
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (16) -    -    -    (16) 21,129 21,114 

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding 
basis under regulations (Note 6) (2,327) -    418 2,233 324 (324) -    

Net Increase / Decrease in Year (2,343) -    418 2,233 309 20,805 21,114 
        

Balance at 31 March 2022 11,057 -    890 4,109 16,057 4,021 20,078 

        

        

        
General Fund analysed over:        

        
Amounts Earmarked (Note 7) 10,057       

        
Amounts uncommitted (Bfwd/Cfwd) 1,000       

        
Total General Fund Balance        
at 31/03/2022 11,057       
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This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise 

taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting 

cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
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 £000's   £000's   £000's     £000's   £000's   £000's  

2,505 2,202 303 Directorate 2,632 1,955 677 
28,277 20,752 7,525 Financial Services 25,900 19,222 6,678 

467 (505) 972 Democratic & Legal Services 1,358 339 1,020 
7,035 5,461 1,574 Planning, Ec Dev & Regulatory Services 3,291 2,861 430 

6,393 1,253 5,140 Environmental Services 7,382 2,196 5,186 

5,725 3,914 1,811 Housing, Health & Engineering Services 4,424 1,947 2,478 

50,402 33,077 17,325 Cost Of Services 44,988 28,520 16,468 
       

2,510 -    2,510 Other Operating Expenditure (Note 8) 2,816 -    2,816 

1,524 452 1,072 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
(Note 9) 1,637 114 1,523 

7,996 29,094 (21,098) 
Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure (Note 10) (837) 19,955 (20,792) 

  (191) (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services   16 
       

  (1,815) 
(Surplus) or deficit on revaluation of Property Plant and 
Equipment assets   (581) 

  7,871 
Remeasurement of net Defined Benefit Liability (Note 
34)   (20,548) 

  6,056 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   (21,129) 

         

  5,865 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   (21,114) 
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The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised 

by the authority. The net assets of the authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves 

held by the authority. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable 

reserves, i.e. those reserves that the authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to 

maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital 

Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). The second 

category of reserves is those that the authority is not able to use to provide services. This category of 

reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation 

Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and 

reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments 

between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.  

          

31 March 2021     Notes 31 March 2022 

£000's       £000's 

50,562  Property, Plant & Equipment 12 50,888 

768  Heritage Assets 12 768 

553  Intangible Assets 13 818 

4,328  Long Term Debtors 14 3,562 

56,211  Long Term Assets  56,036 

     
11,501  Short Term Investments 14 20,506 

228  Assets Held For Sale 18 183 

81  Inventories  37 

7,104  Short Term Debtors 16 3,781 

10,651  Cash and Cash Equivalents 17 11,804 

29,564  Current Assets  36,310 

     
(1,097)  Short Term Borrowing 14 (1,096) 

(16,657)  Short Term Creditors 19 (21,108) 

(17,754)  Current Liabilities  (22,204) 

     
(20)  Long Term Creditors 14 (16) 

(2,338)  Provisions 20 (2,288) 

(21,359)  Long Term Borrowing 14 (20,359) 

(45,236)  Pension Liability 35 (27,305) 

(104)  Other Long Term Liabilities  (96) 

(69,057)  Long Term Liabilities  (50,064) 
     

(1,036)  Net Assets  20,078 

     
15,750  Usable Reserves 21 16,058 

(16,785)  Unusable Reserves 22 4,020 

(1,036)  Total Reserves  20,078 

 

 
Richard Gibson FCPFA 

Director of Resources (S151 Officer) 
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The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority during the 

reporting period. The statement shows how the authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents 

by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows 

arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the authority 

are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the 

authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources 

which are intended to contribute to the authority’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising from 

financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. 

borrowing) to the authority. 

 

 

2020/21     2021/22 

£000's   Note £000's 
    

(192) Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services  16 
    

 Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash   
(6,395) movements   (11,750) 

    
5,117 Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of  6,166 

  services that are investing and financing activities     

(1,470) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 22 (5,568) 
    

(7,403) Investing Activities 23 5,934 
    

4,047 Financing Activities 24 (1,519) 

(4,826) Net (Increase) / Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents   (1,153) 

(5,825) Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  (10,651) 

(10,651) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the reporting period 16 (11,804) 
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1. Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted  

 

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) requires the 

disclosure of information relating to the expected impact of an accounting change that will be 

required by a new standard which has been issued but is yet to be adopted by the 2021/22 Code.    

 

The Code also requires that changes in accounting policy are to be applied retrospectively unless 

transitional arrangements are specified, this would result in an impact on disclosures spanning two 

financial years.    

 

Accounting changes that are introduced by the 2021/22 code are:   

 

• Amendments to IFRS3 Definition of a Business Combination;  

• IFRS9, IAS39 and IFRS7 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 1; 

• IFRS9, IAS39, IFRS7, IFRS4 and IFRS16 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2. 

 

These changes are not expected to have a material impact on the Council’s single entity 

statements. 

 

IFRS 16 Leases  

 

IFRS 16 Leases: This standard will require local authorities that are lessees to recognise most 

leases on their balance sheets as right-of-use assets with corresponding lease liabilities (there is 

recognition for low-value and short-term leases).  

 

CIPFA/LASAAC have deferred implementation of IFRS16 for local government until 1 April 2023. 

It is considered too early to give an accurate estimate but this is likely to have a material impact on 

the Council’s balance sheet. 
 

2. Critical judgements in applying accounting policies  

 

In applying the Accounting Policies set out in the Statement of Accounting Policies on pages 18 to 
34, the Council has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving 
uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:  

 

• As outlined in the Narrative Report there remains a high degree of uncertainty about future 

levels of funding for local government. The Council has determined, however, that this 

uncertainty is not yet sufficient to indicate that the assets of the Council might be impaired as 

a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision.  This will be re-

assessed when details of the Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review and Fair 

Funding Review are published. 

• Under the terms of an agreement dated 29th September 2000 the Council entered into a long 

term agreement with Pendle Leisure Ltd (a registered industrial and provident society) for the 

provision of Community Arts and Leisure Services within the administrative area of Pendle. 

This agreement runs to 2028. In February 2005 the Council entered into a public/private 

partnership with Liberata, covering a 15 year period, for the provision of a range of services 

previously provided in-house. In May 2017 the arrangement with Liberata was extended to 

2030. Neither Liberata nor Pendle Leisure Trust is considered to fall within the local authority 

group.  

The partnership with Liberata is considered a contract for services under which no entity is 
established. As an exempt charity the governance of the Leisure Trust is such that the Council 
cannot and does not exercise sufficient influence over its activities to amount to control.  
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• At the reporting date the Council had established four joint venture arrangements with a 

private sector partner trading as Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration Limited (PEARL, 

PEARL 2, PEARL (Brierfield Mill) Limited) and a Housing Association (PEARL Together). 

Whilst each is considered a jointly controlled entity, they are not regarded as so financially 

material to the Council to require the preparation of Group Accounts. More detail on the joint 

venture arrangements is provided at Note 35.  

• The Council’s land and buildings are valued on the balance sheet in accordance with the 

statement of asset valuation principles and guidance notes issued by the Royal Institution of 

Chartered Surveyors (RICS). The Council carries out a rolling programme that ensures all 

required Plant, Property and Equipment valuations are revalued within a five year cycle.  

Assets subject to review had a valuation date of 1 April 2021. Any confirmed material changes 

after this date have been accounted for.  

3. Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by 

the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into 

account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because 

balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the 

assumptions and estimates.  

 

The most significant items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31st March 2022 for which there is 

a risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows:  

 

Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 

 

As at the 31st March 2022, the Council’s Balance Sheet includes PPE assets of £52.5m.  All assets 

measured at fair value are revalued as part of a rolling 5 year programme with valuations provided 

by Liberata Property Services under a wider public private partnership with the Council. The terms 

of engagement between the parties for property valuations comply with the requirements of the 

Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  

 

Debt Impairment  

At 31st March 2022 the Council had a balance of debtors of £9.393m. A review of significant 

balances suggested that an impairment of doubtful debts of £5.74m was appropriate (equivalent 

to 61% of the debt outstanding). This compares to 48% as at 31 March 2021 and includes 

management’s assessment of the early impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on income receivable.  

 

Pensions  

The estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements. 

The Fund Actuary makes judgements in relation to factors such as the discount rate used, the rate 

at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and 

expected returns on pension fund assets.  

 

The effects on the net pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be measured. 

However, changes are complex because the different assumptions interact. Under current 

accounting rules, a change in the pension liability does not impact upon the net cost of the General 

Fund.  

 

Pension estimates for the reporting period include the impact of COVID-19 on markets to March 

2022. 

 

Business Rates  

Since the introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme on 1st April 2013, Local Authorities 

are liable for successful appeals against business rates charged to businesses following the 2017 

Revaluation in their proportionate share.  
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Therefore, a provision has been recognised for the best estimate of the amount that businesses 

may have been overcharged up to 31st March 2022.  The estimate has been calculated using the 

latest Valuation Office Agency ratings list of appeals as at 31st March 2022.  The Council’s share 

of the provision held at this date is £1.937m being 40% and an decrease of £43k compared to the 

previous year (£1.980m).  In 2020/21 reverted back to 40% as the 56% share was based on a one 

year only 75% Pilot Pooling Agreement.  Appeals can be made on the basis of local and national 

issues that may impact on the Rateable Values of hereditaments.  Estimating what appeals may 

be submitted from businesses in the future is problematic especially with the backdrop of varied 

economic reports on the potential impacts and outcomes of the COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit.  

 

4. Material items of income and expense 

 

There are no material items of income and expenditure in 2021/22 other than those disclosed 

separately in the Statement of Accounts. The Council has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from 

contracts with customers in accordance with the Code; however this has no material impact on the 

financial statements. 

 

5. Events after the balance sheet date 

 

The draft Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Director of Resources (as S151 
Officer) on 22nd November 2022. Events taking place after this date that are reflected in the 
financial statements are as follows: Pension Fund restatement which was calculated in September 
2022. Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing 
at 31st March 2022, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all 
material respects to reflect the impact of this information.  
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6. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER 

REGULATIONS 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources 
that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future capital and 
revenue expenditure. 

  Usable Reserves 
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  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment Account: 

Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 1,443 -    -    -    (1,443) 

Revaluation losses on Property Plant and Equipment   1,210 -    -    -    (1,210) 

Impairment of Long Term Debtor -    -    -    -    -    

Amortisation of intangible assets   123 -    -    -    (123) 

Capital grants and contributions applied    (2,408) -    -    -    2,408 

Movement in the Donated Assets Account   -    -    -    -    -    

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 1,885 -    -    -    (1,885) 
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of 
the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 1,065 -    -    -    (1,065) 

Insertion of items not debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment (491) -    -    -    491 

Voluntary provision for the financing of capital investment 79 -    (79) -    -    

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund (200) -    -    -    200 

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account: 

Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (3,141) -    -    3,141 -    
Application of grants to capital financing transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account -    -    -    (891) 891 

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts Reserve: 

Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on 
disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  (695) -    695 -    -    

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure -    -    (218) (16) 235 
Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve towards administrative 
costs of noncurrent asset disposals -    -      -    -    
Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance the payments 
to the Government capital receipts pool. -    -      -    -    

Transfer in respect of Long Term Debtor proceeds -    -    20 -    (20) 

Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash -    -      -    -    

Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account: 

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement are different from finance costs chargeable 
in the year in accordance with statutory requirements (14) -    -    -    14 

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve: 

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (see Note 34) 3,003 -    -    -    (3,003) 
Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners 
payable in the year (1,871) -    -    -    1,871 

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account: 

Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rating income credited 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different 
from council non-domestic rating income calculated tax and for the year 
in accordance with statutory requirements (2,256) -    -    -    2,256 

Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences Account: 

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is different 
from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements (59) -    -    -    59 

Total Adjustments       (2,327) -    418 2,233 (324) 
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  Usable Reserves   
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  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 
Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment Account: 
Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 1,354 -    -    -    (1,354) 
Revaluation losses on Property Plant and Equipment   1,544 -    -    -    (1,544) 
Impairment of Long Term Debtor -    -    -    -    -    
Amortisation of intangible assets   113 -    -    -    (113) 
Capital grants and contributions applied    (2,869) -    -    -    2,869 
Movement in the Donated Assets Account   -    -    -    -    -    
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 1,823 -    -    -    (1,823) 
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as 
part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 325 -    -    -    (325) 
Insertion of items not debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment (487) -    -    -    487 
Voluntary provision for the financing of capital investment -    -    -    -    -    
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund (188) -    -    -    188 
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account: 
Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (1,687) -    -    1,687 -    
Application of grants to capital financing transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account -    -    -    (719) 719 
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts Reserve: 
Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on 
disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  (566) -    566 -    -    
Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital 
expenditure -    -    (1,758) -    1,758 
Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve towards 
administrative costs of noncurrent asset disposals -    -    -    -    -    
Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance the 
payments to the Government capital receipts pool. -    -    -    -    -    
Transfer in respect of Long Term Debtor proceeds -    -    24 -    (24) 
Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of 
cash -    -    -    -    -    
Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account: 
Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement are different from finance costs 
chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements (15) -    -    -    15 
Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve: 
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (see 
Note 34) 2,472 -    -    -    (2,472) 
Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year (1,814) -    -    -    1,814 
Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account: 
Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rating income 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
is different from council non-domestic rating income calculated tax 
and for the year in accordance with statutory requirements 5,858 -    -    -    (5,858) 
Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences Account: 
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals 
basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 93 -    -    -    (93) 

Total Adjustments       5,956 -    (1,168) 968 (5,756) 
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7. MOVEMENTS IN EARMARKED RESERVES 

 

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in other earmarked funds and 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from 
earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2021/22. 

   2020/21     2021/22    
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   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  

 Business Rates Volatility Reserve  
    
1,301  

                           
-  

      
1,301  

         
1,561  

                           
-  

      
2,862  

 Budget Strategy  
    
1,529  

                 
(1,706) 

      
2,387  

         
1,359  

                 
(2,232) 

      
1,514  

 Revenue Expenditure   
    
1,323  

                    
(217) 

      
1,922  

                
-  

                    
(497) 

      
1,425  

 Energy Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

             
-  

         
1,250  

                           
-  

      
1,250  

 One-off Projects Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

             
-  

            
500  

                           
-  

         
500  

 Pearl Development Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

         
300  

                
-  

                           
-  

         
300  

 New Homes Bonus Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

         
502  

                
-  

                    
(250) 

         
252  

 Transformation Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

             
-  

            
250  

                           
-  

         
250  

 ICT Strategy  
       
149  

                           
-  

         
371  

              
56  

                    
(200) 

         
227  

 Growth Sites Development  
            
-  

                           
-  

         
216  

                
-  

                      
(20) 

         
196  

 External Funding Receipts  
            
-  

                      
(23) 

         
170  

              
77  

                      
(81) 

         
166  

 Towns Fund Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

         
162  

                
-  

                           
-  

         
162  

 Future High Streets Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

         
138  

                
-  

                           
-  

         
138  

 Staff Development/Apprentices   
         
28  

                           
-  

         
188  

                
-  

                      
(65) 

         
123  

 Business Growth Incentive   
            
-  

                      
(12) 

         
125  

                
-  

                        
(3) 

         
123  

 Local Development Framework  
            
-  

                      
(16) 

         
149  

                
-  

                      
(34) 

         
115  

 Performance  
            
-  

                           
-  

         
135  

                
-  

                      
(37) 

           
98  

 Developers' Contributions   
            
-  

                           
-  

           
78  

                
-  

                        
(7) 

           
71  

 COVID19 Response Reserve  
       
313  

                           
-  

         
383  

                
-  

                    
(313) 

           
70  

 Renewals Reserve  
            
-  

                      
(50) 

           
68  

                
-  

                           
-  

           
68  

 Insurance/Risk Management  
            
-  

                        
(7) 

           
66  

                
-  

                           
-  

           
66  

 VAT Partial Exemption  
            
-  

                           
-  

           
50  

                
-  

                           
-  

           
50  

 Community Projects Reserve  
            
-  

                      
(30) 

           
22  

                
-  

                           
-  

           
22  

 Portas Pilot  
            
-  

                           
-  

             
7  

                
-  

                           
-  

             
7  

 High Street Innovation Fund  
            
-  

                           
-  

             
2  

                
-  

                           
-  

             
2  

 Community Investment Reserve  
            
-  

                           
-  

             
2  

                
-  

                           
-  

             
2  

 S31 Receipts Received in Advance  
    
3,446  

                           
-  

      
3,446  

                
-  

                 
(3,446) 

             
0  

 Change Management  
       
200  

                      
(10) 

         
211  

                
-  

                    
(211) 

             
-  

 Pensions  
            
-  

                      
(70) 

             
-  

                
-  

                           
-  

             
-  

     
8,289  

                 
(2,141) 

    
12,401  

         
5,053  

                 
(7,396) 

    
10,057  
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Further information on the reserves shown above is provided in Appendix 1 on page 101. 

In addition to those Earmarked Reserves outlined above, the Council also has other Usable 

Reserves as reported in the Balance Sheet (page 41).  

The Council’s Usable Reserves at 31 March 2022 are presented below: 

    £’000 

Earmarked Reserves 10,057 

Uncommitted Funds    1,000 

Capital Receipts Reserve*      890 

Capital Grants Unapplied**   4,109 

Total Usable Reserves       16,057 

*Brought forward and carry forward balances for these reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves 

Statement (page 38) with in-year movements disclosed in Note 6 (page 46). 

**Capital Grant Unapplied 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE 

 

      
 2020/21     2021/22  
 £000's     £000's  

2,343 Parish Council Precepts 2,334 
42 Levies (County Council share of retained Business Rates Levy) (1) 
95 (Gains)/Losses on the disposal of Non-Current Assets 452 
30 Pensions - Fund Administration Costs 31 

2,510  Total  2,816 

 

 
9. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

 

      

 2020/21     2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  

683 Interest payable and similar charges 657 

841 
Pensions interest cost and expected return on pensions 
assets 980 

(116) Interest Income (110) 

(336) Other income (3) 

1,072  Total  1,523 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

   2021/22  

  

 General 
Capital 

Receipts  
 S106 

Receipts   £000's  

Brought forward 1,419 457 1,876 

Received in year 5,548 -    5,548 

Used in year (3,300) (16) (3,316) 

 Total  3,668 441 4,109 
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10. TAXATION AND NON SPECIFIC GRANT INCOMES 

 

 
2020/21     2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  

(9,067) Council Tax Income (Net) (9,289) 

476 Non Domestic Rates (Net) (2,562) 

(1,785)  - General Covid-19 Grant -    

(350)  - Grant for Reimbursement of Sales, Fees and Charges -    

(1,164)  - Revenue Support Grant (1,170) 

(439)  - New Homes Bonus Grant (168) 

1  - Levy/Surplus Allocation  
(12)  - Council Tax Annexe Grant (100) 

(1)  - New Burdens (9) 

(5,009)  - Small Business Rate Relief Grant (2,952) 

(315)  - Tax Income Guarantee (633) 

  - Lower Tier Services (173) 

  - Local Council Tax Support (236) 

 Capital Grants and Contributions  
(3,433)  - Third Party Grants and Contributions (3,500) 

(21,098)  Total  (20,792) 

 

 

11. OPERATING LEASES 

 

Council as a Lessee; In 2021/22 expenditure included in the Net Cost of Services in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in relation to the below leases was £906,974 

(£928,272 in 2020/21). 

 

 
 

2020/21    
 

2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  

      
      936  

Not later than 1 year 
          
846  

   3,711  
Later than 1 year, not later than 5 
years 

       
2,520  

      184  
Later than 5 years 

          
181  

   4,831    
       
3,547  

 

 

Council as a Lessor; In 2021/22 income included in the Net Cost of Services in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement in relation to the below leases was £355,126 (£328,271 in 

2020/21). 

 

 

 2020/21     2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  

      
     (266) 

Not later than 1 year 
         
(186) 

     (552) 
Later than 1 year, not later 
than 5 years 

         
(406) 

     (102) 
Later than 5 years 

           
(58) 

     (920)   
         
(651) 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Movements in property, plant and equipment for 2021/22 are as follows:-  
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   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  
Cost or Valuation        
At 1st April 2021    44,530       5,850         768         135         2,498       3,980     57,762  
Additions         764          367              -             5         2,146          424       3,706  

Revaluations increases/(decreases)               

 - to Revaluation Reserve      1,106               -              -              -    
      

(814)         292  

 - to Provision of Services 
      

(742)              -              -             0    
      

(423) 
    

(1,165) 
Derecognition         

  - disposals 
      

(561)              -              -              -                 -  
      

(615) 
    

(1,176) 

  - other  
   

(1,470)              -              -              -                 -               -  
    

(1,470) 

Reclassification of Assets 
        

(40)              -              -              -                 -            40               -  
 - (to)/from Held for Sale              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  
Other movements              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

At 31st March 2022    43,587       6,218         768         141         4,643       2,592     57,949  

        
Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment        
At 1st April 2021      2,034       4,395              -              -                 -              2       6,431  
Depreciation charge              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  
Depreciation               -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  
 - to Revaluation Reserve              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  
 - to Provision of Services      1,078          364              -              -                 -               -       1,442  
Impairments               -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  
 - to Revaluation Reserve              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  
 - to Provision of Services              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  
Derecognition               -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

  - disposals 
      

(109)              -              -              -                 -  
          

(2) 
       

(111) 

  - other 
   

(1,470)              -              -              -                 -               -  
    

(1,470) 

Reclassification of Assets 
          
(2)              -              -              -                 -              2   

 - (to)/from Held for Sale              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

Other movements              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

At 31st March 2022      1,532       4,759              -              -                 -              2       6,293  

        

Net Book Value 31st March 2022    42,055       1,459         768         141         4,643       2,590     51,656  
Net Book Value 31st March 2021    42,494       1,457         768         134         2,498       3,979     51,330  
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Comparative movements in property, plant and equipment for 2020/21 were as follows:- 
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   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  

Cost or Valuation        
At 1st April 2020    43,769       5,315         768           42            919       4,931     55,744  

Additions         103          535              -              -         1,600          735       2,973  

Revaluations increases/(decreases)              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

 - to Revaluation Reserve      1,888               -              -           76                 -        (150)      1,814  

 - to Provision of Services       (288)              -              -  
          

(5)                -     (1,250) 
    

(1,543) 

Derecognition               -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

  - disposals              -               -              -              -                 -        (331) 
       

(331) 

  - other        (898)              -              -              -                 -               -  
       

(898) 

Reclassification of Assets         (47)              -              -           21             (21)           47               -  

 - (to)/from Held for Sale              -               -              -              -                -               -  

Other movements              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

At 31st March 2021    44,527       5,850         768         134         2,498       3,982     57,759  

        
Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment        
At 1st April 2020      1,827       4,150              -              -                 -              3       5,980  

Depreciation charge              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

Depreciation               -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

 - to Revaluation Reserve              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

 - to Provision of Services      1,104          243              -              -                 -              6       1,353  

Impairments               -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

 - to Revaluation Reserve              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

 - to Provision of Services              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

Derecognition               -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

  - disposals              -               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

  - other       (898)              -              -              -                 -            (6) 
       

(904) 

Reclassification of Assets        
 - (to)/from Held for Sale               -              -              -                 -               -               -  

Other movements              -               -              -              -                 -                -  

At 31st March 2021      2,033       4,393              -              -                 -              3       6,429  

 
       

Net Book Value 31st March 2021    42,494       1,457         768         134         2,498       3,979     51,330  
Net Book Value 31st March 2020    41,942       1,165         768           42            919       4,928     49,764  
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Heritage Assets 

Detailed information on the Council’s Heritage Assets is provided in the Accounting Policies note 

11 on page 25.  There have been no disposals or acquisitions of heritage assets since 2011/12 

when the Shuttle in Nelson town centre was recognised as a heritage asset and included in the 

Council’s balance sheet. 

 

Depreciation 

 

Depreciation, using the reducing balance method, has been charged according to the estimated 

life of the asset involved, as assessed by the Property Services Manager.  This officer also 

undertook a general review of values, by category of asset. 

Depreciation is calculated using the reducing balance method adopting the following annual 

percentages:  

• Buildings (Sports Centres)     5% 

• Buildings (Other)      2% or 10% 

• Vehicles, Plant and Equipment    25%  

• Community Assets      0% or 2% 

 

Capital Commitments 

 

At 31st March 2022, the Council had contractual commitments to the value of £252,370 for the 

acquisition, construction or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment.  

 

Revaluations 

 

The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment 

required to be measured at fair value is revalued at least every five years.  All valuations have 

been carried out by qualified staff under Mr P Kirby, the Property Services Manager for Liberata 

(who provide this professional service to the Council as part of a public private partnership 

arrangement).  Valuations of land and buildings were carried out in accordance with the 

methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  Valuations of vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are 

based on current prices where there is an active second-hand market or latest list prices adjusted 

for the condition of the asset. 
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   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  

                

Carried at historical cost            5,033          685         768            27         3,299               -          9,812  

Valued as at:               

31st March 2022          15,299              5              -               -            207       2,528        18,039  

31st March 2021                 55          293              -               -            578               -             926  

31st March 2020               837            97              -               -            265               -          1,199  

31st March 2019          13,654          267              -              5            294            62        14,282  

31st March 2018            7,177          112              -          109                 -               -          7,398  

                

Total Cost or Valuation          42,055       1,459         768          141         4,643       2,590        51,656  
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

 

The Authority accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is not 

an integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item of Property, 

Plant and Equipment.  The intangible assets are software and associated licences.  

 

The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a reducing balance basis at 25%. The 

amortisation of £100k charged to revenue in 2021/22 was charged to Corporate Management and 

then absorbed as an overhead across all the service headings in the Net Expenditure on 

Services.  It is not possible to quantify exactly how much of the amortisation is attributable to each 

service heading. 

The movement on Intangible Asset balances during the year is as follows: 
                  
 

 2020/21       2021/22  
 Total       Total  

 £000's       £000's  
    Balance at 1st April   
      1,550    Gross carrying amount       1,659  
       (993)   Accumulated amortisation     (1,106) 

         557    Net carrying amount at 1st April          553  
         109    Additions          388  
       (113)   Amortisation for the period        (123) 

         553    Balance at 31st March          817  

        
    Comprising:   

      1,659     - Gross carrying amounts       2,047  
    (1,106)    - Accumulated amortisation     (1,229) 

         553               817  

 
 

There are no items of capitalised software that are individually material to the financial statements. 

 
 
 
14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 

liability or equity instrument of another entity. Non-exchange transactions, such as those relating 

to taxes and Government grants, do not give rise to financial instruments. 

 

The term ‘financial instrument’ covers both financial assets and financial liabilities. These range 

from straight forward trade receivables and trade payables to more complex transactions such as 

financial guarantees, derivatives and embedded derivatives. The Council’s borrowing and 

investment transactions are classified as financial instruments. 

 

The Code requires disclosures in relation to financial instruments with two objectives relating to 

helping users evaluate: 

• the significance of financial instruments for the Council’s financial position and performance; 

• the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Council was 

exposed and how the Council manages those risks. 

 

Categories of Financial Instruments  

The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet:  

 
 



Borough of Pendle                                            Page 56                    Statement Of Accounts 2021/22 

 

2020/21   2021/22 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value   

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

          

£000's £000's   £000's £000's 

  Financial Assets Measured at:   

  Amortised Cost   

   22,151  
      
22,151  Investments*    32,310  

      
32,310  

   22,151  
      
22,151  Total Investments    32,310  

      
32,310  

     

     

     4,328  
        
4,328  Long-Term Debtors      3,562  

        
3,562  

        953  
           
953  Short-Term Debtors      1,318  

        
1,318  

     5,280  
        
5,280        4,881  

        
4,881  

     

   27,431  
      
27,431      37,190  

      
37,190  

     

  Financial Liabilities Measured at:   

  Amortised Cost   

   21,359  
      
24,473  Long-Term Borrowing    20,359  

      
21,528  

     1,097  
        
1,097  Short-Term Borrowing      1,096  

        
1,096  

   22,456  
      
25,570      21,456  

      
22,625  

          

          20  
             
20  Long-Term Creditors           16  

             
16  

     1,578  
        
1,578  Short-Term Creditors      2,256  

        
2,256  

     1,598  
        
1,598  Total Creditors      2,272  

        
2,272  

     

   24,054  
      
27,168      23,728  

      
24,897  

 
 

* Included in this balance are the short term investments, cash and cash equivalents shown on the 
face of the Balance Sheet. 
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Income, Expense, Gains and Losses  

 

The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are 

made up as follows: 

 

2020/21   2021/22 
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£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's   £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

           
    
683   

          
-   

     
683  Interest expenses 

    
657     

     
657  

    
683  

         
-  

          
-  

         
-  

     
683  

Total expense in Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

    
657  

         
-  

          
-  

         
-  

     
657  

         
-   

   
(116)  

   
(116) Interest income   

   
(135)  

   
(135) 

         
-  

         
-  

   
(116) 

         
-  

   
(116) 

Total income in Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services 

         
-  

         
-  

   
(135) 

         
-  

   
(135) 

           
    
683  

         
-  

   
(116) 

         
-  

     
567  

Net (gain)/loss for the year 
    
657  

         
-  

   
(135) 

         
-  

     
522  

 

 

Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and financial liabilities are carried in the 

Balance Sheet at amortised cost. The fair value of short-term instruments, including trade payables 

and receivables is assumed to approximate to the carrying amount. 

The disclosures relating to Financial Instruments are meant to highlight differences that may exist 

between the value assigned to an item on the Balance Sheet and the value as ascertained by a 

‘fair value’ calculation e.g. if the Council’s portfolio of loans included a number of fixed rate loans 

where the interest rate paid is higher than the rates available for similar loans at the Balance Sheet 

date then this commitment to pay interest above market rates increases the amount we would have 

to pay if the lender agreed to early repayment of the loans. Accordingly the fair value would be 

higher than shown on the face of the balance sheet. 

The Balance Sheet is required to have a minimum of four balances relating to financial instruments: 

long term investments, current assets (short term investments and debtors), current liabilities (short 

term borrowing and creditors) and long term borrowing. An analysis of each item within these 

categories has been carried out with the following conclusions:- 
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Amortised Costs £37.2m 

 

The following assets are shown on the Balance Sheet at amortised cost.  Unless otherwise stated, 

all balances shown are an adequate approximation of fair value in view of the amounts involved. 

• Investments   £32.3m 

• Long Term Debtors  £3.6m 

• Current Debtors     £1.3m 

 

Investments £32.3m 

These amounts are cash deposits held within financial institutions or on loan to Lancashire County 

Council.  These relate to surplus cash balances held over the year end and loaned out temporarily 

as part of treasury management operations to financial institutions and local authorities.  To mitigate 

against the risk of loss, the Council places investment limits (approved annually) on each financial 

organisation depending on its credit rating and asset base. 

The Council has not suffered any counterparty defaults during the year.  The deposits invested at 

the year-end have been assessed for impairment by looking at each institution’s credit rating and 

general standing.  It has not been considered necessary to write off or impair any of the investments 

held at the balance sheet date. 

• Temporary Loans  £20.5m 

• Bank    £5.8m 

• LCC Call   £6.0m 

Long Term Debtors £3.6m 

The Council has a small number of debtors being repaid over various periods longer than one year.  

These are shown in the Balance Sheet at principal outstanding.   

• Housing Advances  £0.1m 

• PEARL    £2.9m 

• Other    £0.6m 

Housing advances are for previous Council Housing tenants where they are buying their house 

under the Governments RTB scheme for unconventional build construction. 

 

PEARL (Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration) consists of three joint venture Limited Companies 

with shares held jointly between Barnfield Investment Properties Limited and Pendle Borough 

Council. The Council also has a fourth joint venture (PEARL Together) with Barnfield Investment 

Properties and Harewood Housing Society. The loans made to PEARL cover regeneration capital 

schemes.  The loans are offered on deferred repayment terms. 

Current Debtors £1.3m 

The sum of £1.3m (for contributions and reimbursements and sales, fees charges and other 

income) has been included as amortised cost financial assets.  Council tax and business rate 

arrears are statutory debts and do not arise from contracts and so are not classed as financial 

assets, and prepayments are not included as financial assets as they are not contracts giving rise 

to financial assets and liabilities. 

Financial Liabilities £23.7m 

• Borrowing  £21.5m 

• Creditors   £2.3m 
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Financial liabilities are shown on the Balance Sheet at amortised cost.  Fair values are disclosed 

below for each type of financial liability where the carrying value on the Balance Sheet is not an 

adequate approximation. 

• Borrowings £21.5m 

All borrowings are shown at amortised cost which for these loans is the same as principal 

outstanding.  Of the total borrowings £21.4m has been borrowed from the PWLB, with £0.1m being 

borrowed from other bodies.   

The Council has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash 

is available as needed.  If unexpected movements happen, the Council has immediate access to 

liquid investments as well as ready access to borrowings from the money markets and PWLB.  

There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under 

financial instruments.   

As the Council has ready access to borrowings from the PWLB, there is no significant risk that it 

will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments.  The main risk 

is that the Council will need to replace a significant proportion of its borrowings at a time of 

unfavourable interest rates.  The main treasury management strategy to deal with this is to manage 

the Council’s debt maturity profile so that it is as smooth as possible taking account of historic debt 

and available interest rates. 

There is a range of possible fair values for these borrowings at the Balance Sheet date.  A fair value 

of £22.6m is based on the economic effect of the terms agreed with the PWLB compared with 

estimates of the terms that would be offered for market transactions undertaken at the Balance 

Sheet date.  The difference between the carrying amount and the fair value measures the additional 

interest that the Council will pay over the remaining terms of the loans under the agreements with 

PWLB, against what would be paid if the loans were at prevailing market rates. 

• Creditors £2.3m 

The total of £2.3m is for trade and other payables, tax and social security creditors has been 

included in financial liabilities.  All other categories of creditor arising from statutory debts (Council 

tax and business rates), are governed by more specific reporting standards, or are not contracts 

giving rise to financial assets and liabilities. 

 

Fair Values 

Investments and borrowings; the Council has obtained a ‘fair value’ calculation carried out by our 

external Treasury Management consultants in respect of these items on the balance sheet which 

is shown in the table below: 

            

2020/21       2021/22 
Carrying  Fair        Carrying  Fair  
Amount Value       Amount Value 
£000's £000's       £000's £000's 

       
       22,359         25,473   PWLB borrowing*         21,359         22,528  

       22,359         25,473   Total financial liabilities          21,359         22,528  
       
       17,500         17,500   Loans and receivables*          26,500         26,500  

       17,500         17,500   Total loans and receivables          26,500         26,500  

 

 

 

*The carrying amount for short-term Financial Instruments (i.e. less than 365 days) is considered 

an acceptable approximation of fair value at the Balance Sheet date by the Code. Short-term Public 

Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing with a carrying amount of £1m is included in the above table. 

All loans and receivables are short-term. 

 

In terms of the long-term PWLB debt, the fair value is different than the carrying amount because 

the Council’s portfolio of loans includes a number of loans where the interest rate payable is higher 

than the rates available for similar loans in the market at the Balance Sheet date. As the purpose 
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of the fair value disclosure is primarily to provide a comparison with the carrying amount in the 

Balance Sheet and as this contains accrued interest then the fair value figure also includes accrued 

interest.  

 

When calculating the fair value of long-term PWLB debt our Treasury Management consultants 

have used the borrowing rate for new PWLB loans as the discount factor for all borrowing whereas 

the PWLB use the premature repayment rates for their values. The Code Guidance Notes for 

Practitioners confirms that it is acceptable for either or both valuations to be used. Applying 

premature repayment rates result in a fair value figure for PWLB borrowing of £26.401m rather than 

the value of £22.528m shown in the table above.   

 

 

 

 

15. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Key risks 

The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are: 

• Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council; 

• Liquidity risk - the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its 

commitments to make payments;  

• Re-financing risk - the possibility that the Council might be requiring to renew a financial 

instrument on maturity at disadvantageous interest rates or terms; 

• Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of changes 

in such measures as interest rates movements. 

Overall procedures for managing risk 

The Council’s overall risk management procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial 

markets, and are structured to implement suitable controls to minimise these risks.  The procedures 

for risk management are set out through a legal framework based on the Local Government Act 

2003 and associated regulations.  These require the Council to comply with the CIPFA Prudential 

Code, the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services and investment 

guidance issued through the Act.  Overall, these procedures require the Council to manage risk in 

the following ways: 

• by formally adopting the requirements of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice; 

• by the adoption of a Treasury Policy Statement and treasury management clauses within its 

financial regulations/standing orders/constitution; 

• by approving annually in advance prudential and treasury indicators for the following three years 

limiting: 

 

o The Council’s overall borrowing; 

o Its maximum and minimum exposures to fixed and variable rates; 

o Its maximum and minimum exposures to the maturity structure of its debt; 

o Its maximum annual exposures to investments maturing beyond a year. 

 

• by approving an investment strategy for the forthcoming year setting out its criteria for both 

investing and selecting investment counterparties in compliance with Government guidance.  

These are required to be reported and approved before the start of the year to which they relate.  

These items are reported with the annual treasury management strategy which outlines the detailed 

approach to managing risk in relation to the Council’s financial instrument exposure.  Actual 

performance is also reported after each year, as is a mid-year update. 

The annual treasury management strategy for 2021/22 which incorporates the prudential indicators 

was approved by Council in March 2021. The strategy document is available on the Council website 

at www.pendle.gov.uk. 
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The key issues within the strategy were:  

• Inclusion of Commercial Investment activity;  

• The Authorised Limit for 2021/22 was set at £30.5m. This is the maximum limit of external 

borrowings or other long term liabilities. 

• The Operational Boundary was set at £28.5m.  This is the level beyond which external debt is 

not normally expected to exceed. 

• The maximum amounts of fixed and variable interest rate exposure were set at 100% and 25% 

based on the Council’s net debt. 

The Council maintains written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies 

(Treasury Management Practices – TMPs) covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk, credit 

risk, and the investment of surplus cash.  These TMPs are a requirement of the Code of Practice 

and are reviewed periodically. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 

the Council’s customers. 

This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that deposits are not 

made with financial institutions unless they meet identified minimum credit criteria, as laid down by 

Fitch Ratings.  The Annual Investment Strategy also imposes a maximum sum to be invested with 

any approved financial institution and other approved sectors (e.g. local authorities). The credit 

criteria in respect of financial assets held by the authority are as detailed below.  

Deposits are only made with main UK clearing banks and three UK building societies (taking in to 

account credit ratings issued by Fitch and supplied weekly by our Treasury Management 

consultants). Limits are assigned for each counterparty in relation to the maximum duration and 

amount of investment.  The maximum duration limits that have applied during 2021/22 range from 

100 days to 364 days. The maximum sums invested range from £2.5m to £10.0m (£10.0m for the 

Council’s Bankers) and £6.0m for Lancashire County Council. 

Any short-term operational breaches of these limits are reported to the Council’s Accounts and 

Audit Committee during the year.  The Council does not expect any losses from non-performance 

by any of its counterparties. The Council has not breached its counterparty limits during 2021/22.  

Customers for goods and services are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past 

experience and other factors. 

 

The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and building 

societies cannot be assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to make interest 

payments or repay the principal sum will be specific to each individual institution. Recent experience 

has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their commitments. A risk of 

irrecoverability applies to all of the Authority’s deposits, but there was no evidence at 31st March 

2022 that this was likely to crystallise.  
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Amounts arising from Expected Credit Losses 

 

We have assessed the Council’s short and long term investments and concluded that the expected 

credit loss is not material therefore no allowances have been made. 

 

A summary of the credit quality of the Council’s individual investments at 31st March 2022 is shown 

below, along with the potential maximum exposure to credit risk, based on duration to maturity, 

experience of default and uncollectability. 

 

 Cash Deposits   Principal 
(£)  

 Lowest Long Term 
Rating  

 Historic Risk of 
Default  

 Expected 
Credit Loss (£)  

 Lancashire CC*  
          
6,000,000  AA- 0.000% 0 

 DMO*  
          
4,500,000  AA- 0.001% 0 

 DMO*  
          
4,500,000  AA- 0.002% 0 

 DMO*  
          
4,000,000  AA- 0.003% 0 

 Coventry BS  
          
2,500,000  A- 0.007% 177 

 Leeds BS  
          
2,500,000  A- 0.010% 246 

 Nationwide BS  
          
2,500,000  A 0.014% 351 

 Total  
        
26,500,000    774 

 

*The Code does not recognise a loss allowance where the counterparty is central government or a 

local authority since relevant statutory provisions prevent default. 

 

The following analysis summarises the Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk on other financial 

assets, based on experience of default, adjusted to reflect current market conditions:- 

 

  
Amount 

Historical 
experience of 

default 

Adjustment 
for market 
conditions 

Estimated 
maximum 

exposure to 
default 

Estimated 
maximum 

exposure to 
default 

£000s % % £000s £000s 

Cash deposits : 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-21 

Banks & Building 
Societies 

20,506 0.00% 0.00% Nil Nil 

Other Local 
Authorities / Govt 

6,000 0.00% 0.00% Nil Nil 

Sundry /Trade 
Debtors 

724 3.00% 48.00% 369 538 

Total 27,230     369 538 
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The trade debtor amount can be analysed by age as follows:- 

 2020/21  
  

 2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  
   

            
113  

 Less than one month  
             
30  

            
420  

 Less than three 
months  

           
239  

              
86  

 Three to six months  
             
42  

              
63  

 Six months to one 
year  

             
42  

            
359  

 More than one year  
           
371  

         
1,041  

            
724  

 

 
 

Trade debtors are not subject to internal credit rating and have been collectively assessed in the 

following groupings for the purposes of calculating expected credit losses:- 

 

Maximum Exposure: £369k 

 

Expected credit losses are calculated based on historical data for defaults adjusted for current and 

forecast economic conditions. Debt write-off is considered when normal recovery procedures have 

been unable to secure payment. Prior to write-off, all possible action will have been taken to secure 

the debt, however the extent to which it is pursued is dependent on the amount of the debt and the 

financial circumstances of the debtor.  

 

Collateral – During the reporting period the Council held no collateral as security.  

 

Liquidity risk 

The Council manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures above (the 

setting and approval of prudential indicators and the approval of the treasury and investment 

strategy reports), as well as through a comprehensive cash flow management system, as required 

by the CIPFA Code of Practice.  This seeks to ensure that cash is available when needed. 

 

The Council has ready access to borrowings from the money markets to cover any day to day cash 

flow requirements, and the PWLB and money markets for access to longer term funds.  The 

Council is also required to provide a balanced budget through the Local Government Finance Act 

1992, which ensures sufficient monies are raised to cover annual expenditure.  There is therefore 

no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial 

instruments.   

Refinancing and Maturity risk 

The Council maintains a significant debt and investment portfolio.  Whilst the cash flow procedures 

above are considered against the refinancing risk procedures, longer-term risk to the Council 

relates to managing the exposure to replacing financial instruments as they mature.  This risk 

relates to both the maturing of longer term financial liabilities and longer term financial assets. 

The approved treasury indicator limits for the maturity structure of debt and the limits placed on 

investments placed for greater than one year in duration are the key parameters used to address 

this risk.  The Council approved treasury and investment strategies address the main risks and the 

Central Treasury Team address the operational risks within the approved parameters.  This 

includes: 

• monitoring the maturity profile of financial liabilities and amending the profile through either new 

borrowing or the rescheduling of the existing debt; and 
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• monitoring the maturity profile of investments to ensure sufficient liquidity is available for the 

Council’s day to day cash flow needs, and the spread of longer term investments provide 

stability of maturities and returns in relation to the longer term cash flow needs. 

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows, with the maximum and minimum limits for 

fixed interest rates maturing in each period approved within the Treasury Management Strategy: 

 

                            
 2020/21    

  
 2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  
    

          
1,000  

  Less than one Year  
          
1,000  

          
1,000  

  Between one and two years  
          
1,000  

          
3,500  

  Between two and five years  
          
2,500  

          
1,500  

  Between five and ten years  
          
1,500  

        
15,359  

  More than ten years  
        
15,359  

        
22,359  

          
21,359  

 

 

Market risk 

Interest rate risk  

The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments.  Movements 

in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, depending on how variable and fixed 

interest rates move across differing financial instrument periods.  For instance, a rise in variable 

and fixed interest rates would have the following effects: 

• Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement will rise; 

• Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the borrowing will fall (no impact on revenue 

balances).  As an example, a 1% increase in the discount rate would reduce the fair value of 

the Council’s borrowing liabilities shown on page 59 from £21.359m to £19.333m; 

• Investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement will rise;  

• Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall for long-term investments i.e. for 

those in excess of 365 days (no impact on revenue balances). The Council does not hold any 

long-term investments. 

 

Borrowings are not carried at fair value on the balance sheet, so nominal gains and losses on fixed 

rate borrowings would not impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  However, changes in interest payable and receivable 

on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 

of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. 

The Council has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk.  The Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy draws together the Council’s prudential and treasury indicators and its 
expected treasury operations, including an expectation of interest rate movements.  From this 
Strategy a treasury indicator is set which provides maximum limits for fixed and variable interest 
rate exposure. To limit the potential impact of changes in interest rates on variable rate borrowing 
a limit of 25% of total borrowing is set at the maximum that may be borrowed at variable rate. 
During 2021/22 the Council had no borrowings with variable interest rates. 
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Price risk  
The Council does not invest in equity shares or marketable bonds. 
 
Foreign exchange risk  
The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. It therefore has 
no exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates. 
 
 

16. SHORT-TERM DEBTORS 

  

                 
 2020/21       2021/22  

Total     Total 
 £000's       £000's  

    
          4,970    Central Government Departments               916  

          1,788    Other Local Authorities            1,455  

                  -    NHS Bodies                 13  

          2,508    Business Rate Payers/Council Tax Payers            3,091  

                  -    Prepayment of Pension Fund Contributions                    -  

          3,335    Other Entities and Individuals            4,046  

        12,601    Total Debtor Balance            9,521  

         
(5,497)   Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts  

         
(5,740) 

          7,104    Net Debtor Balance            3,781  

 
 
17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements: 

 

            

 31 March       31 March  

 2020/21       2021/22  

Total     Total 

 £000's       £000's  
    

          
4,650   Bank current accounts 

          
5,804  

          
6,001   Bank/Other Deposits - instant access 

          
6,000  

        
10,651    

        
11,804  

 
 
 

18. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 

                 
 2020/21       2021/22  
 £000's       £000's  

             228    Balance at 1st April               228  
                 2    In year capital expenditure                   -  
                (2)   Revaluation gains (losses)               (45) 

             228    Balance at 31st March               183  
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19. CREDITORS 

 

        

 2020/21       2021/22  

Total     Total 

 £000's       £000's  
    

          9,180   Central Government bodies           6,319  

             227   Other Local Authorities              217  

               14   NHS bodies                22  

          5,432   Business Rate Payers/Council Tax Payers           5,901  

          1,805   Other entities and individuals           8,647  

        16,657            21,108  
    

  Receipts in Advance included in the above creditors:   
                 6   Central Government bodies                   -  

                 3   Other Local Authorities                   -  

             158   Business Rate Payers/Council Tax Payers           1,538  

             162   Other entities and individuals           5,714  

             329   
           7,252  

 
 

20. PROVISIONS 
 

The provisions relate to service areas where there is a known liability but uncertainty about the 

exact amount or the dates on which they will arise.  

Details of the main provisions are shown below:- 

 

 2020/21       2021/22   2021/22  
       Advanced   Utilised    

 £000's       £000's   £000's   £000's  
      

               
75  

 Burnley and Pendle JTC                   -  
                    
-  

                  
75  

                  
-  

 Interest on PSW Deposits                  1  
                    
-  

                    
1  

             
264  

 Municipal Mutual Insurance                   -  
                    
-  

                
264  

               
19  

 Other                   -  
                  
(8) 

                  
11  

          
1,980  

 Business Rates Appeals*           1,938  
           
(1,980) 

             
1,937  

          
2,338  

            1,938  
           
(1,989) 

             
2,288  

 

*The provision for Business Rates Appeals represents the Council’s estimated share of sums 
repayable to businesses on successful appeal against their rateable value, as determined by the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA). 

 

 

21. USABLE RESERVES 

 

Movements in the Authority’s usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement 

and Notes 6 and 7.  
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22. UNUSABLE RESERVES  

Unusable Reserves include:  

• unrealised gains and losses, particularly in relation to the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment (e.g. the Revaluation Reserve)  

• adjustment accounts that absorb the difference between the outcome of applying proper 

accounting practices and the requirements of statutory arrangements for funding 

expenditure (e.g. the Capital Adjustment Account and the Pensions Reserve).  

 

 

 

 2020/21       2021/22  
 £000's       £000's      

        
24,881   Revaluation Reserve 

        
24,105  

        
11,190   Capital Adjustment Account 

        
11,027  

       
(48,372)  Pensions Reserve 

       
(28,956) 

            
(133)  Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 

            
(119) 

         
(4,153)  Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

         
(1,897) 

            
(198)  Accumulated Absences Account 

            
(140) 

       
(16,785) 

            
4,020  

 

 
Revaluation Reserve  
 

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising from increases in the 

value of its Property, Plant and Equipment (and Intangible Assets).  The balance is reduced when 

assets with accumulated gains are:  

• revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

• used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 

• disposed of and the gains are realised.  

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 

Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance 

on the Capital Adjustment Account.  

 

 2020/21     2021/22  

 £000's       £000's   £000's  
     

        
23,665   Balance at 1st April  

              
24,881  

          
2,234   Upward Revaluation of assets 

                     
2,858   

            
(419)  

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not 
charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 

                   
(2,277)  

          
1,815  

 

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not posted 
to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services  

                   
581  

            
(495)  

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost 
depreciation 

                      
(577)  

            
(104)  Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 

                      
(780)  

            
(599)  Amount written off to the Capital adjustment Account 

                             
-  

               
(1,357) 

        
24,881    Balance at 31st March   

              
24,105  
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Capital Adjustment Account  

 

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 

arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 

acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  The Account 

is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment 

losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

(with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical 

cost basis).  The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the 

costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.  

The Account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties and gains 

recognised on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the Council. The Account also 

contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1st April 2007, 

the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains.  

Note 6 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those 

involving the Revaluation Reserve.  

 

 2020/21       2021/22  

 £000's       £000's  
    

          
9,756  Balance at 1st April 

                 
11,190  

 

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement:  

         
(1,353)  Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets 

                 
(1,442) 

         
(1,544)  Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment 

                 
(1,210) 

            
(113)  Amortisation of intangible assets 

                    
(123) 

         
(1,823)  Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 

                 
(1,885) 

            
(325) 

 

Amounts of non current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on 
disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

                 
(1,065) 

         
(5,158)   

                 
(5,725) 

              
(95)   Adjusting amounts written out re Long Term Debtor  

                      
(99) 

             
599    Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve  

                   
1,357  

         
(4,654) 

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the year  
                 
(4,467)  

  

 

 Capital financing applied in the year:   
          
1,758  

 

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure  
                      
235  

  Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance new capital expenditure   
          
2,869  

 

Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement that have been applied to capital financing  

                   
2,408  

             
719  

 

Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account  
                      
891  

             
487  

 

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against General Fund 
balances  

                      
491  

               
66  

 

Amounts voluntarily set aside for repayment of debt 
                        
79  

             
188   Capital expenditure charged against General Fund balances  

                      
200  

          
6,087    

                   
4,304     

        
11,190  

Balance at 31 March   
                 
11,027  
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Pensions Reserve  

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 

accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 

provisions.  The Council accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating 

the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 

resources set aside to meet the costs.   

 

However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes 

employer’s contributions to the pension fund or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly 

responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in 

the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority has set aside 

to meet them.  The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the 

time the benefits come to be paid.  

 

      
 2020/21    2021/22 
 £000's     £000's  

   
    
(39,843) Balance at 1st April 

    
(48,372) 

      
(7,871) Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 

      
20,548     

      
(2,472) 

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

      
(3,004) 

   

        
1,814  

Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable 
in the year 

        
1,871  

    
(48,372) 

      
(28,956) 

 
 
 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
 

 

 2020/21     2021/22  
 £000's     £000's  

   
             
1,705  Balance at 1st April 

           
(4,153) 

            
(5,858) 

Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rating income credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different from 
council tax and non-domestic rating income calculated for the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 

             
2,256  

            
(4,153) 

             
(1,897) 
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23. CASH FLOW STATEMENT – OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 
The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:- 

a) Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements 

 

        

 2020/21       2021/22  

 £000's       £000's  
    

          
1,354   

Depreciation charged to Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Statement 

          
1,442  

             
113   Amortisation of Intangible Assets 

             
123  

  Deferred revenue/ deferred payment agreements (IFRS 15)  
          
1,544   Impairment and Downward Revaluations 

          
1,210  

          
8,068   Increase / (Decrease) in Creditors 

          
5,588  

         
(2,527)  (Increase) / Decrease in Debtors 

            
(205) 

              
(44)  (Increase) / Decrease in Inventories 

               
45  

         
(2,141)  Pensions Liability 

          
2,532  

                  
-   Contributions to / (from) Provisions 

                  
-  

                  
-   Revaluation Losses 

                  
-  

             
325   

Carrying value on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment, 
Investment Property and Intangible Assets 

          
1,065  

            
(297)  Other non-cash movements 

              
(50) 

          
6,395   

          
11,750  

 

 
b) Adjust for items included in the net surplus on the provision of services that are investing or 
financing activities 

 

 2020/21       2021/22  

 £000's       £000's  
    

          
4,555   

Any other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing 
cash flows 

          
5,552  

             
562   

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible assets 

             
614  

          
5,117   

            
6,166  

 
 

c) Interest received and interest paid  

 2020/21       2021/22  

 £000's       £000's  
    

            
(104)  Interest received 

              
(19) 

             
683   Interest paid 

             
657  

             
579   

               
638  
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24. CASH FLOW STATEMENT – INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 

 

 2020/21       2021/22  

 £000's       £000's  
    

          
2,682  

 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property 
and intangible assets 

          
3,936  

        
59,500   Purchase of short-term investments 

      
142,500  

             
628   Other payments for investing activities 

               
31  

            
(562) 

 

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets  

            
(614) 

  

Other payments from investing activities - loans granted 

 

       
(65,000)  Proceeds from short-term investments 

     
(133,500) 

         
(4,651) 

 

Other receipts from investing activities (mainly capital grants) 
         
(6,419) 

         
(7,403)  Net cash flows from investing activities 

          
5,934  

 

25. CASH FLOW STATEMENT – FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

 

 

 2020/21       2021/22  

 £000's       £000's  
    

                  
-  

 

Cash receipts of short- and long-term borrowing 
                  
-  

          
1,008   Repayments of short- and long-term borrowing 

          
1,008  

          
3,039  

 

Other payments for financing activities 
         
(2,528) 

          
4,047   Net cash flows from financing activities 

         
(1,520) 
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26.  EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 

 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from 
resources (government grants, rents Council tax and business rates) by local authorities in 
comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making 
purposes between the Council’s Service Areas. Income and expenditure accounted for under 
generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
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 £000's   £000's   £000's     £000's   £000's   £000's  

275 28 303 Directorate 536 141 677 

6,662 863 7,525 Financial Services 4,652 2,027 6,678 

944 28 972 Democratic & Legal Services 778 242 1,020 

849 725 1,574 Planning, Building Control & Licensing 55 375 430 

4,726 414 5,140 Environmental Services 3,903 1,283 5,186 

(502) 2,312 1,810 Housing, Health & Economic Development 1,836 642 2,478 

12,955 4,370 17,325  Cost Of Services 11,758 4,710 16,468 
       

(19,103) 1,586 (17,517) Other Income and Expenditure  (9,416) (7,037) (16,453) 

(6,148) 5,956 (192) (Surplus) or Deficit  2,342 (2,327) 15 

  7,253 Opening General Fund Balance   13,401 
       

  6,148 
Less/Plus Surplus or (Deficit) on General Fund 
Balance in Year   (2,342) 

  13,401 Closing General Fund Balance at 31st March   11,059 
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27. NOTE TO THE EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 

 

This note provides a reconciliation of the main adjustments to Net Expenditure Chargeable to the General Fund to arrive at the amounts in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. The relevant transfers between reserves are explained in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

 

 

              

 2020/21     2021/22  

 As 
reported 

for 
resource 

manageme
nt  

 
Adjustme

nt to 
arrive at 
the net 
amount 

chargeabl
e to 

General 
Fund  

 Net 
Expenditur

e 
chargeabl

e to 
General 

Fund  

 
Adjustmen
ts between 

Funding 
and 

Accountin
g Basis 
(Note 6)  

 Net 
Expenditure 

in the 
Comprehensi

ve Income 
and 

Expenditure 
Statement    

 As 
reported 

for 
resource 

manageme
nt  

 
Adjustme

nt to 
arrive at 
the net 
amount 

chargeabl
e to 

General 
Fund  

 Net 
Expenditur

e 
chargeabl

e to 
General 

Fund  

 
Adjustmen
ts between 

Funding 
and 

Accountin
g Basis 
(Note 6)  

 Net 
Expenditure 

in the 
Comprehensi

ve Income 
and 

Expenditure 
Statement  

 £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's     £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  

328 (54) 275 28 303 Directorate 1,193 (657) 536 141 677 

4,967 1,695 6,662 863 7,525 Financial Services 5,732 (1,080) 4,652 2,027 6,678 

1,368 (423) 944 28 972 Democratic & Legal Services 633 144 778 242 1,020 

1,742 (893) 849 725 1,574 
Planning, Building Control & 
Licensing (493) 548 55 375 430 

5,205 (479) 4,726 414 5,140 Environmental Services 3,433 470 3,903 1,283 5,186 

(660) 158 (502) 2,312 1,810 
Housing, Health & Economic 
Development 1,258 578 1,836 642 2,478 

12,950 5 12,955 4,370 17,325 Net Cost Of Services 11,756 3 11,758 4,710 16,468 
           

(19,103) -    (19,103) 1,586 (17,517) Other Income and Expenditure  (9,416) -    (9,416) (7,037) (16,453) 

(6,153) 5 (6,148) 5,956 (192) (Surplus) or Deficit  2,340 3 2,342 (2,327) 15 

    7,253 Opening General Fund Balance     13,401 
           

    6,148 
Less/Plus Surplus or (Deficit) on 
General Fund Balance in Year     (2,342) 

    13,401 
Closing General Fund Balance at 
31st March     11,059 
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27. (contd) NOTE TO THE EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS ABOVE 

 
Adjustments between the Funding and Accounting Basis are shown below for both 2021/22 and 
2020/21. 
 
Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the services 
line and for: 
 

• Other Operating Expenditure 
o Adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of assets and 

the amounts written off for those assets  
 

• Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure  
o The statutory charges for capital financing i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income and expenditure 
as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 
 

• Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure 
o Capital grants are adjusted for income not chargeable under generally accepted 

accounting practices. Revenue grants are adjusted for those receivable in the year 
to those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied 
throughout the year. The Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line is credited 
with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions 
were satisfied in the year. 

 
Net change for the Pensions Adjustments 
 
Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the additions of IAS 19 Employee Benefits 
pension related expenditure and income: 
 

• For services 
o This represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the 

authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and 
past service costs. 
 

• For financing and investment income and expenditure 
o The net interest on the defined benefit liability is charged to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Other Adjustments 
 
Other adjustments between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statements and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
 

• For financing and investment income and expenditure 
o The other adjustments column recognises adjustments to the General Fund for the 

timing differences for premiums and discounts. 
 

• The charge under Taxation and Non-Specific grant income and expenditure 
o This represents the difference between what is chargeable under statutory 

regulations for Council Tax and Business Rates that was projected to be received 
at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally accepted 
accounting practices in the Code. This is a timing difference as any difference will 
be brought forward in future Surpluses or Deficits on the Collection Fund.  
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 Adjustments between Funding and Accounting 
Basis    

 2021/22    
  

 Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the 
amounts shown on the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement  

 
Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes  

 Net Change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments  

 Other 
Adjustments  

 Total 
Adjustments  

   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  

Directorate -    149 (8) 141 

Financial Services 2,151 (121) (3) 2,027 

Democratic & Legal Services 8 235 (1) 242 

Planning, Building Control & Licensing 47 336 (9) 375 

Environmental Services 422 876 (14) 1,283 

Housing, Health & Economic Development 148 517 (23) 642 

Net Cost Of Services 2,776 1,993 (59) 4,710 
     

Other Income and Expenditure  from the Funding 
Analysis (3,899) (860) (2,278) (7,037) 

Difference between the General Fund surplus or 
deficit and that shown on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (1,123) 1,133 (2,337) (2,327) 
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28. EXPENDITURE AND INCOME ANALYSED BY NATURE 

 

This table shows expenditure and income by category (nature) and how this relates to the surplus 

or deficit on the Provision of Services included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement. 

 

 

 2020/21  
  

 2021/22  

 £000's   Gross Expenditure   £000's  

               
8,021  Employee Benefits Expense 

               
8,801  

             
37,045  Other Service Expenses 

             
32,900  

                  
374  Support Service Recharges 

                  
543  

               
4,961  Depreciation Amortisation and Impairment 

               
2,776  

                  
683  Interest Payments 

                  
657  

               
7,997  Expenditure Associated with Council Tax/NNDR 

                 
(837) 

               
2,385  Precepts and Levies 

               
2,333  

                  
966  

Gain or Loss on Disposal of Non Current Assets/Pension 
Interest 

               
1,432  

             
62,431  Gross Expenditure 

             
48,605  

   

   

   
  Gross Income   

   
               
5,529  Fees and Charges and Other Service Income 

               
6,691  

             
16,588  Income from Council Tax/NNDR 

             
11,015  

             
39,427  Government Grants and Contributions 

             
29,823  

                  
628  Support Service Recharge 

                  
945  

                  
452  Interest and Investment Income 

                  
114  

             
62,623   Gross Income  

             
48,588  

                
(192)  Net Expenditure (Deficit on Provision of Services)  

                    
17  
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29. OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION 

 
The remuneration paid to the Authority’s senior employees is as follows: 

Post Title   
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    £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
         

Chief Executive         

 2021/22 96,019 -    
19
8 -    -    

17,27
8 

113,49
5 

 2020/21 108,449 -    -    -    -    
19,62

9 
128,07

8 

Corporate Director          

 2021/22 100,859 -    99 -    -    669 
101,62

6 

 2020/21 90,395 -    99 -    -    528 91,023 

         
Housing Health & Engineering Services Manager       

 2021/22 65,516 -    73 -    -    
11,85

8 77,447 

 2020/21 66,595 -    -    -    9,551 
12,05

4 88,200 

         
Planning, Economic Development & Regulatory Services 
Manager      

 2021/22 66,355 -    81 -    6,366 
12,01

0 84,812 

 2020/21 63,856 -    -    -    
11,39

6 
11,55

4 86,806 

         

Chief Financial Officer         

Fixed staff 2021/22 43,204 -    -    -    -    3,734 46,938 

Agency staff 2021/22 104,628 -    -    -    -    -    
104,62

8 

 2020/21 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    

         
Environmental Services Manager        

 2021/22 66,355 -    3 -    -    
12,01

0 78,369 

 2020/21 63,836 -    -    -    -    
11,55

4 75,390 

         

         

         

         
 

 
* Expense Allowances are the payment of subscriptions 

** Benefits in Kind are a contribution towards a leased car based on a 10% of the post holder’s 

salary 

 

The Corporate Director is the Council’s Returning Officer for elections for which a payment of £2,913 

per annum is made. This is included in the post-holder’s salary shown above. The post-holder reduced 

their working pattern with effect from July 2019 following flexible retirement.  

For part of the year up to his departure in August 2021, the Chief Executive was appointed the Council’s 

S151 Officer, for which an honorarium of £1,177 was paid. These were interim arrangements in place 

from the previous year until a permanent Chief Finance Officer (CFO) was recruited.  
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Agency Services were utilised during the year to provide temporary cover for the CFO post. Total costs 

for provision amounted to £104,625. Two temporary CFOs were employed during the year until 

November 2021, when a permanent CFO was appointed.  

The lease car scheme is closed to new entrants.  

The Council’s Pay Policy is approved annually.  The Pay Policy Statement for 2021/22 was approved 

by the Council in February 2021 and can be found on the Council’s website at www.pendle.gov.uk. 

 

 

The Council’s employees receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year, excluding employer’s 

pension contributions, were paid the following amounts: 

        

 Remuneration band    Number of employees 

         2020/21   2021/22  

      

£60,000 
 
-  £64,999  

                         
1  

 

£65,000 
 
-  £69,999  

                          
2  

£75,000 
 
-  £79,999  

                         
2  

                         
1  

£90,000 
 
-  £94,999  

                         
1  

 

£95,000 
 
-  £99,999  

                          
1  

£100,000 
 
-  £104,999  

                          
1  

£105,000 
 
-  £109,999  

                         
1  

 

£145,000 
 
-  £149,999   

                         
1  

         

 
The Chief Executive post was occupied by two people during the year. The previous Chief 
Executive departed from the Council in August 2021 and a new Chief Executive was appointed 
from October 2021. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer post was occupied by four people during the year. One fixed officer at 
the beginning of the year followed by two Agency staff and one fixed post from November 2021. 
 
The numbers of exit packages with the total cost per band and type of redundancy is set out in the 
table below: 
 
 

(a)   (b)   (c)   (d)   (e) 
                          

Exit package    Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies  

  Number of other 
departures 

agreed 

  Total number of 
exit packages by 

cost band  

  Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band 

cost band         

(including special         

payments)               (b+c)       

    2020/21 2021/22   2020/21 2021/22   2020/21 2021/22   2020/21 2021/22 

                          
                          

£0 - £20,000   
           -                    

-    
             
2  

             
2    

             
2  

             
2    

    
16,294  

        
18,911  

                          

£20,000 - £40,000             -  
                  
-   

             
-  

             
1   

             
-  

             
1   

             
-  

        
25,945  

                          

                          

Totals   
           -                    

-    
             
2  

             
3    

             
2  

             
3    

    
16,294  

        
44,856  

                          

 

http://www.pendle.gov.uk/
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30. MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES  

 

The Council paid the following amounts to members of the Council during the year.  

 

 2020/21       2021/22  
 £       £  
    

    154,007   Allowances       118,301  
             65   Expenses                   -  

    154,072   Total       118,301  

 

Payments are made to Members a month in arrears and the above figures represent the actual 

payments made in the financial year.  

 

31. EXTERNAL AUDIT COSTS 

The Council has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, 

certification of grant claims and statutory inspections and to non-audit services provided by the 

Council’s external auditors.  

 

 2020/21     2021/22  

 Total     Total  

 £000's    £000's  

 Fees Payable:  
             
60  - with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor for the year 

             
63  

                
-  - with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor for prior years 

             
43  

             
12  - to external auditors for certification of grant claims and returns 

             
14  

             
72  

Total 
           
119  
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32. GRANT INCOME 

The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement in 2021/22: 

 

 2020/21     2021/22  

 Total     Total  

 £000's     £000's  

 Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income  
        1,164  Revenue Support Grant         1,170  

        1,785    General Covid-19 Grant                  -  

           350   Grant for Reimbursement of Sales, Fees and Charges                  -  

           439  New Homes Bonus Grant            168  

             (1) Levy/Surplus Allocation                 -  

               1  New Burdens - LA                9  

             12  Council Tax Annexe Grant            100  
           315  Tax Income Guarantee (NNDR & CT)                 -  
                -  Covid 19 Additional Funding            633  

                -  Lower Tier Services            173  

                -  Local Council Tax Support            236  

        5,009  Small Business Rate Relief Grant         2,952  

        3,433  Capital Grants and Contributions         3,500  

      12,507           8,941  

 Credited to Services  
      17,609  Housing Benefits and Council Tax       16,458  

               7  Individual Electoral Registration Grant                 -  

           156  Misc Grants from MHCLG (mainly Housing/Homelessness)            383  

             81  ERDF grant - reopen high street safely              74  

             10  Parliamentary Elections Funding              87  

           200  Cyber Security Grant                 -  

             70  Towns Fund                 -  

        1,030  Covid-19 Hardship Fund              76  

        4,664  Covid - 19 Business Grant         6,625  

        2,151  Covid - 19 Local Authority Support Grant         1,334  

             17  DWP - Youth Employment Services                 -  
                -  Local Land Charges New Burdens              75  
                -  Household support fund            340  
                -  Bio-Diversity Net Gain Grant               10  
                -  Redmond Review implementation              16  
                -  Holiday Activities Fund            306  
                -  Apprentice funding                4  
                -  Nelson Town Deal              76  
           925  Capital grants funding Revenue Expenditure Under Statute          2,049  

      26,920         27,913  

      39,427  Total       36,854  

 

 

The Council received no capital grants in year that have yet to be recognised as income due to the 
conditions attached which if not met will require the monies to be returned to the grantor. The 
Council had no such grants at the end of 2021/22 (£nil 2020/21). 

 

 

33. RELATED PARTIES 

 

The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals 

that have the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled or influenced by the 

Council. The financial statements must contain the disclosure necessary to draw attention to the 

extent to which the Council might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or 

might have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Council. 
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Central Government  

Central government has effective control over the general operations of the Council – it is 

responsible for providing the statutory framework, within which the Council operates, provides the 

majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions 

that the Council has with other parties (e.g. Council tax bills, housing benefits). Grants received 

from government departments are set out in the subjective analysis in Note 27 on the Expenditure 

and Funding Analysis. 

 

Other Public Bodies  

Precepts in relation to Lancashire Police Authority, Lancashire Combined Fire Authority and 

Lancashire County Council – refer to the Collection Fund on page 92. Precepts payable to local 

Town and Parish Councils – refer to Note 8. For details of payments to the Lancashire County 

Council Pension Fund refer to Note 35 below.  

 

Members and Chief Officers 

Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating policies. The 

total of members’ allowances paid in 2021/22 is shown in Note 30.  During the year some Members 

and Officers acted in a number of other capacities for related parties.  This involved being either 

employed by other local authorities or serving on the Management Boards of Companies and 

Voluntary Organisations.   

Principal examples include: Lancashire County Council, Together Housing Association Ltd 

(formerly Housing Pendle), Pendle Leisure Ltd and the three joint venture arrangements that the 

Council has established in partnership with Barnfield Investment Properties (PEARL, PEARL 2 and 

PEARL Brierfield Mill). The Council has a fourth joint venture with Barnfield Investment Properties 

and Harewood Housing Society Limited (PEARL Together).  

With regard to Pendle Leisure Limited, the Council pays an annual grant towards the costs incurred 

by the Trust in managing and developing a wide variety of leisure related facilities and activities for 

the people of Pendle. As well as providing multi-purpose centres for swimming, fitness, sports, 

exercise and entertainment, the Trust also has staff dedicated to providing specialist projects 

relating to Healthy Lifestyles, Sports Development and Arts Development.   

In 2021/22 the Council paid a grant of £1.629m to the Trust (£1.730m in 2020/21). At the Balance 

Sheet date the Council owed Pendle Leisure Trust £Nil and was owed £764k of which £719k related 

to long-term loans. During the year 3 Councillors served on the Trust’s Board of Trustees. 

Housing Pendle was established in 2006 to receive the transfer of the Council’s housing stock.  A 

number of arrangements between the Council and Housing Pendle stem from the transfer. Housing 

Pendle forms part of Together Housing. Together Housing is a large housing association which 

manages more than 36,000 homes across Lancashire and Yorkshire. At the Balance Sheet date 

the Council owed Together Housing £Nil and Together Housing owed the Council £1k. 

In the year, the Council’s Chief Executive resigned as the Company Secretary for PEARL entities 

and the Corporate Director resumed this role (see Note 35) and four Councillors and the Housing, 

Health and Engineering Manager also served on the Board. Total payments of £252k were made 

to PEARL entities during the year (£450k in 2020/21). Additional information on PEARL entities is 

disclosed in Note 35.  

Payments to the value of £12,734 (£55,728 in 2020/21) were made to Penburn Construction, a local 

company of which Councillor Sakib is a Director.  All procurement of goods and services is subject 

to the Council’s financial procedure rules and the Councillor was not involved in any decision 

relating to these transactions.  

Councillor Whipp is a Non-executive Director of West Craven Together (WCT). The Council did not 

pay WCT for any goods and services during 2021-22. However, WCT received £49,118.93 grant 

monies under the Government’s package of measures to support small businesses during the 

Covid-19 pandemic, where Pendle Borough Council was acting as Agent. 
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Payments in the year were made to the Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) totalling £7k (£7k in 2020/21). Councillor Newman continued to act as the Council’s 

nominated representative. 

Payments in the year were made to Colne Youth Action Group totalling £19k. Councillor S Cock-

burn Price serves as the charity’s Chairperson and Councillor D Cockburn-Price serves as the 

Treasurer. 

A number of Councillors also serve on Town and Parish Councils and during previous years the 

Council completed a range of asset transfers to local Councils including ad hoc parcels of land in 

parts of the Borough. Consideration of transactions related to these bodies are included in ‘Other 

Public Bodies’ above. 

The Council’s Standing Orders require Members who believe they have an interest in a matter to 

be discussed at a Council, Policy and Resources Committee or other Committee meeting to declare 

that interest and withdraw from the meeting while the particular matter is being discussed. 

It is considered, after examining the Register of members Interests and making enquiries with 

Councillors and Senior Officers, that there are no further material transactions that need to be 

disclosed.  

 

34. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND CAPITAL FINANCING 
 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, including 

the value of assets acquired under finance leases, together with the resources that have been used 

to finance it.  Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as 

assets are used by the Council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Council that 

has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this note.  

 

 

 2020/21       2021/22  

 £000's       £000's  
    

     19,830   Opening Capital Financing Requirement      19,277  

               -   Capital Investment                -  

       2,973   Property Plant and Equipment        3,417  

               -   Investment Properties  

          109   Intangible Assets           388  

          628   Expenditure on Loans             31  

       1,824   Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute        1,885  

               -   Sources of Finance  

      (1,758)  Capital Receipts          (234) 

      (3,589)  Government Grants and Other Contributions       (3,300) 

  Sums set aside from Revenue:  

         (188) 
 Direct Revenue Contributions          (200) 

         (487)  Minimum Revenue Provision          (492) 

           (66)  Amounts voluntarily set aside for debt repayment            (79) 

     19,277  
 Closing Capital Financing Requirement 

     20,693  

    
  Explanation of Movements in Year  

         (553) 

 In year use of borrowing for capital expenditure (unsupported by government financial assistance). 

       1,416  

         (553) 
 Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement  

       1,416  
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35. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEMES 

 

Participation in Pension Schemes  

 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Council makes contributions 

towards the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable 

until employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments that needs to be 

disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. The Council participates in the 

Local Government Pension Scheme, administered locally by Lancashire County Council.  This is 

a funded scheme and pays defined benefits based on how long employees are active members 

and their salary when they leave (a “final salary” scheme) for service up to 31st March 2014 and 

on revalued average salary (a “career average” scheme) for service from 1st April 2014 onwards.  

A funded scheme means that the Council and employees pay contributions into the fund, 

calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investments assets.  

 

The pension scheme is operated under the regulatory framework for the Local Government 

Pension Scheme and the governance of the scheme is the responsibility of the Lancashire County 

Council Pension Fund Committee.  The Committee is assisted by an investment panel which 

advises it on investment strategy and risk management provisions. 

Risks and Investment Strategy 

 

The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that the Fund’s assets will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. 
promised benefits payable to scheme members).  The aim of investment risk management is to 
balance the minimisation of the risk of an overall reduction in the value of the Fund with maximising 
the opportunity for gains across the whole Fund portfolio.  The Fund achieves this through asset 
diversification to reduce exposure to market risk and keep credit risk to an acceptable level.  In 
addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund’s 
forecast cash flow. 

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 

 

The Council recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they 

are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.  

However, the charge we are required to make against Council tax is based on the cash payable in 

the year, so the real cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General 

Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement.   

The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the 

year. 
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 2020/21    
 Lancashire County Pension Fund - Pendle Borough Council  

 2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  
          

    Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement   
    Cost of Services   
         
1,601      Current service costs 

        
1,993  

                 
-    Past service costs 

                
-  

                 
-      Settlements and Curtailments 

                
-  

         
1,601    

Total Service Cost 
        
1,993  

          
    Other Operating Expenditure   
              
30    

  
Fund Administration Expenses 

             
31  

          

    Financing and investment Income and Expenditure   

            
841      Net interest expense 

           
980  

          

         
2,472  

  
Total Post-Employment Benefits charged to the Surplus or Deficit on  the 
Provision of Services 

        
3,004  

          
      Remeasurements of the Net Defined Benefit Liability comprising:   
        
(7,927)     Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest) 

      
(6,301) 

        
(2,814)     Experience (gain)/loss 

      
(6,086) 

                 
-      

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in 
demographic/experience assumptions 

      
(6,345) 

       
18,612      Actuarial (gains) or losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 

      
(1,817) 

         
7,871      Total remeasurements recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 

    
(20,549) 

          

       
10,343  

  
Total Post-Employment Benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

    
(17,545) 

          
    Movement in Reserves Statement   

         
2,472      

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit for the Provision of 
Services for post-employment benefits in accordance with the Code 

        
3,004  

          

    
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for pensions 
in the year:   

         
1,814  

    Employer contributions payable to the scheme 
        
1,871  
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Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 

 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of its 
defined benefit scheme is as follows: 
 
 

 2020/21     Lancashire County Pension Fund - Pendle Borough Council   2021/22  

 £000's     £000's  
        

     101,271    Fair Value of employer assets      105,827  

    
(143,117) 

  Present value of funded benefit liabilities 
    
(130,082) 

        
(3,390) 

  Present value of unfunded benefit liabilities 
        
(3,049) 

      
(45,236) 

  Closing balance at 31st March 
      
(27,305) 

 
 
 

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair value of Scheme Assets 

 

 2020/21    
 Lancashire County Pension Fund - Pendle Borough Council  

 2021/22  
 £000's     £000's  

        
       90,639    Opening fair value of scheme assets        98,135  
         2,236    Interest income          2,053  
         7,927    Remeasurement gain / (loss):          6,301  
             
(30) 

  Other 
             
(31) 

         1,814    Contributions from employer          1,871  
            314    Contributions from employees into the scheme             328  
        
(4,765) 

  Benefits paid 
        
(4,482) 

       98,135    Closing fair value of scheme assets       104,175  

 
 
 
Reconciliation of the Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation) 

 

 2020/21    
 Lancashire County Pension Fund - Pendle Borough Council  

 2021/22  
 £000's     £000's       

    130,482   Opening balance at 1st April      146,507  
        1,601   Current service cost         1,993  
        3,077   Interest cost         3,033  
           314   Contributions from scheme participants            329  
  Remeasurement (gains) and losses:  

       (2,814)  - Experience (gain)/loss        (6,086) 

                -  
 - Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in demographic 

assumptions        (6,345) 

      18,612  
 - Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions        (1,817) 

                -   Past service cost                 -  
                -   Curtailments                 -  
       (4,765)  Benefits paid        (4,482) 

    146,507    Closing balance at 31st March      133,131  
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In 2021/22, the Council made a contribution to the past service deficit in the sum of £596K. The 
past service deficit contribution is an annual lump sum payment intended to clear the Council’s 
underlying deficit on the Fund over a defined period. This is in addition to the primary contribution 
rate the Council pays based on a fixed percentage applied to our payroll (currently 18.1%). The 
next valuation uses data from 31st March 2022 and becomes effective with effect from 1st April 

2023. 
 
As part of the 2019 valuation of the Fund, the Fund Administrator and Fund Actuary allowed some 
fund employers the option of pre-paying specified sums in exchange for a discount on the amounts 
to be paid.  As part of the Council’s budget plans for 2020/21 the Council agreed to pre-pay the 
past service deficit in full for three years as follows:- 
 
 
 

  £’000         £’000 
2020/21 Past Service Deficit      574  Future Service Payment       905 
2021/22 Past Service Deficit      596  Future Service Payment       941 
2022/23 Past Service Deficit      619   Future Service Payment       978 
Total payment made in 2020/21 1,789  Total payment made in 2020/21 2,824 

 
The past service deficit, and Future Service payments relating to 2021/22 have been charged 
against the General Fund Balance in 2021/22 and form part of the Employer Contribution sum 
shown in the tables above of £1,871k.   
 
Pensions Ruling – The McCloud Case 
 
The case concerned the transitional protections given to scheme members, who in 2012 were 
within 10 years of their normal retirement age, in the judges and fire fighters schemes as part of 
public services pension reforms. Judgements have upheld claimants’ cases that the method of 
implementation of the Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) schemes discriminated against 
younger members. 
 
 
The pension scheme assets comprised the following: 
 
 

 2020/21    
Lancashire County Pension Fund - Pendle Borough Council 

 2021/22  
 £000's     £000's  

        
    Asset Category:   
        
         2,167    Cash and Cash equivalents                 2,622  

        
  Equities*  

                 -    - Financials                    124  

                 -                       124  
    Bonds*   
                 -    UK corporate                    428  
                 -    Overseas corporate                    385  

                 -                         813  
    Property   
              96    Retail                       92  
         1,585    Commercial                 1,572  

         1,681                      1,664  
    Other   
         7,874    Private Equity - UK and Overseas                 8,585  
       45,960    Pooled Equity Funds - UK and Overseas               50,945  
       11,769    Infrastructure               11,867  
       13,118    Credit Funds               13,942  
         3,271    Pooled Fixed Income                 4,530  
       12,295    Indirect Property Funds                 9,084  

       94,287                    98,953  
        

       98,135    Closing balance at 31st March             104,175  

 
* denotes asset categories that have quoted prices in active markets. 
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Basis for estimating assets and liabilities 

 

Within the pension scheme the Council is responsible for the pension costs, liabilities and funding 
risks relating to its own employees and former employees. Liabilities have been assessed on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be 
payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.  The 
pension scheme benefits liabilities have been assessed by Mercer Limited, an independent firm of 
actuaries, estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the Lancashire County Pension 
Fund scheme as at 31st March 2022. The next valuation will use data from 31st March 2025 and 
become effective with effect from 1st April 2026.   
 
 
Regulations governing the fund require actuarial valuations to be carried out every three years.  
Contributions for each employer are set having regard to their individual circumstances. 

 
The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been: 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme - Pendle Borough Council 2020/21 2021/22 

Mortality assumptions:   

 Longevity at 65 for current pensioners (years)   

  Men 22.4 21.4 
  Women 25.1 23.7 
 Longevity at 65 for future pensioners (years)   

  Men 23.9 22.6 
  Women 26.9 25.5 

Rate of CPI inflation 2.7% 3.3% 

Rate of increase in salaries 4.2% 4.8% 

Rate of increase in pensions 2.8% 3.4% 

Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.1% 2.8% 

 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out 
in the table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably 
possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for 
each change that the assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain 
constant.  The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy increases or 
decreases for men and women.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be interrelated.  The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the 
accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method.  
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis are consistent 
with those used in 2020/21. 
 

  2020/21 2021/22 

Local Government Pension Scheme - Pendle 
Borough Council 

Impact on the Defined 
Benefit Obligation £'000 

Impact on the Defined 
Benefit Obligation £'000 

          

Sensitivity Analysis - Assumptions         

change in discount rate +0.1%         (2,151) +0.5%         (9,751) 

change in inflation rate +0.1%          2,183  +0.25%          5,250  

change in pay growth +0.1%             208  +0.25%             512  

1 year increase in life expectancy            4,561             4,222  
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Impact on the Council’s Cash Flows 
 
The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) under the Public Pensions Services Act 2013.  Under the Act, the LGPS in 
England and Wales may not provide benefits in relation to service after 31st March 2014.  The Act 
provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common framework, to establish new career 
average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other benefits. 
 
 
The Council anticipates paying employer contributions of £1.860 to the scheme in 2022/23.   
 
The Council’s weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is 
15 years. 
 
 

36. JOINT VENTURE ARRANGEMENTS 

 

In partnership with Barnfield Investment Properties Limited (BIP), the Council has established three 

joint venture companies (JVC). In 2018, a fourth JVC was established with BIP and Harewood 

Housing Society Limited (part of the Together Housing Group). Whilst they are considered to be 

jointly controlled entities, they are not regarded as so financially material to the Council to require 

the preparation of Group Accounts for 2021/22. This position is subject to an annual review in 

response to any changes in the scale of activity of the Council and PEARL entities. 

 

Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration Ltd (Company No. 06375571) 

Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration Ltd (PEARL) was incorporated in September 2007. PEARL’s 

principal activities comprise the following:-  

 

o Management of the Enterprise Units in the ACE Centre, Nelson. 

o Management of the Shopping Precinct (Hartley Square), Colne. 

 

PEARL has an authorised share capital of £1,000 of which BIP has 700 £1 shares and the Council 

has 300 £1 shares. The issued share capital is £10.00 and has been called up, and paid, in 

proportion to the authorised share capital. Both BIP and the Council are entitled to appoint up to 

five Directors each to form the Board of Directors.  

In accordance with the Shareholders Agreement for the Company, both BIP and the Council 

agreed to make loan advances to the Company. For every £1 of loan capital advanced by the 

Council to the Company, BIP matches that with a loan capital of £2.33 (an investment ratio of 

30:70). 

The total approved loan advances agreed by the Council as at 31st March 2022 was £570k.  There 

were no further advances made to PEARL during the year. The value of these loan notes (with 

accrued interest) has been reflected as a Long Term Debtor in the Council’s accounts since 

2008/09. The total value of the loan notes as at 31st March 2022 is £797k including accrued interest 

of £227k. 

 

Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration (2) Ltd (Company No 06684862) 

Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration (2) Ltd (PEARL 2) was incorporated in September 2008 but 

did not start actively trading until November 2009. The principal activity of the Company is the 

regeneration of the Borough of Pendle. 

 

PEARL 2 has an authorised share capital of £100 of which BIP has 70 £1 shares and the Council 

has 30 £1 shares. The issued share capital is £100 and has been fully called up, and paid, in 

proportion to the authorised share capital.  As with PEARL, both BIP and the Council are entitled 

to appoint up to five Directors each to form the Board of Directors.  

 

PEARL 2 has undertaken a number of development projects. These include, for example:- 

o the acquisition and refurbishment of Shackleton Hall, Colne; 

o the refurbishment of properties in the Whitefield Area of Nelson; 
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o the redevelopment of the sites of the former Lob Lane Mill, Brierfield now known as Quaker 

Heights and Bunkers Hill site; 

o the redevelopment of three Pavilions – Bullholme in Barrowford, Holt House in Colne and 

Edge End in Brierfield; 

o the refurbishment of Booth Street Offices, Nelson; 

o development of new market and affordable housing on Clitheroe Road, Brierfield 

 

Further housing developments are underway at Oak Mill (now known as Langroyd), Carry Lane 

(now known as Greenfields View) in Colne. The Company is also developing the former Colne 

Health Centre on Church St, Colne for a mixed residential and retail use.  

 

In support of these developments, and in accordance with the Shareholders Agreement for the 

Company, both BIP and the Council agreed to make loan advances to the Company. For every £1 

of loan capital advanced by the Council to the Company, BIP matches that with loan capital of 

£2.33 (an investment ratio of 30:70). 

 

The total approved loan advances agreed by the Council as at 31st March 2022 was £1.192m. 

There were no further loan advances made to PEARL 2 during the year. 

 

As with PEARL 1, loan notes to the value of loans advanced have been issued to the Council by 

the Company. The value of these loan notes (with accrued interest) has been reflected as a Long 

Term Debtor in the Council’s accounts for the year. The total value of the loan notes as at 31st 

March 2022 is £1.454m (including accrued interest of £262k). 

 

Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration (Brierfield Mill) Ltd (Company No 07951533) 

Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration (Brierfield Mill) Ltd was incorporated in February 2012. The 

principal activity of the Company is the redevelopment of the site of Brierfield Mill, Brierfield, 

Lancashire. 

 

PEARL (Brierfield Mill) Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of PEARL 2. It has an authorised share 

capital of £1,000 of which BIP has 700 £1 shares, the Council has 299 £1 shares and PEARL 2 

has £1. The issued share capital is £1,000 and has been fully called up, and paid, in proportion to 

the authorised share capital.  As with PEARL and PEARL 2, both BIP and the Council are entitled 

to appoint up to five Directors each to form the Board of Directors.  

 

The Council has allocated funding as a contribution to the overall redevelopment of the Brierfield 

Mill site, of which £481k has been advanced by way of loans to the company at 31st March 2022. 

There were no further loan advances made to the company during the year. 

 

As with PEARL and PEARL2, any loan advance made by the Council is matched by BIP in line 

with the investment ratio (2.33:1). Loan notes to the value of loans advanced have been issued to 

the Council by the Company. The value of these loan notes (with accrued interest) have been 

reflected as a Long Term Debtor in the Council’s accounts for the year. The total value of the loan 

notes as at 31st March 2022 is £541k (including accrued interest of £61k). 

 

In addition to the loans recognised as a long-term debtor, during the year the Council made a grant 

payment to PEARL (BM) of £250k.  The Council has accounted for the grant as capital expenditure 

in 2021/22. 

 

 

 

PEARL Together Ltd (Company No 11229691) 

 

PEARL Together was incorporated in February 2018. The principal activity of the Company is the 

construction of domestic buildings. 

 

PEARL Together has an authorised share capital of £100 of which Harewood Housing Society 

Limited has 50 £1 ordinary shares, BIP has 35 £1 shares and the Council has 15 £1 shares. The 
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issued share capital is £100 and has been fully called up, and paid, in proportion to the authorised 

share capital.  As with PEARL, both BIP and the Council are entitled to appoint up to five Directors 

each to form the Board of Directors. 

In support of its activities the Council advanced loan payments totaling £122k in the year.  As with 

all PEARL entities loan notes to the value of loans advanced have been issued to the Council by 

the Company. The value of these loan notes (with accrued interest) has been reflected as a Long 

Term Debtor in the Council’s accounts for the year. The total value of the loan notes as at 31st 

March 2022 is £127k (inclusive of accrued interest). 

 

Other Joint Venture related matters 

 
Company Secretarial services were provided by the Council in 2021/22 to all four PEARL entities 
and the Council’s Chief Executive is the Company Secretary for each.  

 
Copies of the accounts for all the above Joint Venture companies can be obtained upon request 
in writing from the Company Secretary, Pendle Enterprise and Regeneration Ltd, c/o Nelson Town 
Hall, Nelson, Lancashire, BB9 7LG. 

 

37. CONTINGENT ASSETS 

 

Regenerate Pennine Lancashire 

During 2007/08, the Council introduced a Purchase Assistance Loan Scheme (PALs) in 

conjunction with Regenerate Pennine Lancashire (RPL) (now known as Growth Lancashire), one 

of the government's nine housing market renewal pathfinders. The purpose of the PALS Scheme 

is to provide loans to residents in proposed clearance areas to assist in the purchase of another 

property elsewhere within the District. Any loans provided are secured by way of a charge on the 

new property. 

 

As at 31st March 2022, the Council had 5 loan advances outstanding of £132k, there were no loan 

repayments received in the year. All loan advances are fully funded by grant. However, the loans 

are repayable to the Council upon certain events, the timing of which cannot be determined as it 

is dependent on a number of factors. In view of this, the Council has not recorded the amounts 

due as long term debtors. As repayment is dependent on one or more uncertain future events not 

wholly within the Council’s control, it is recorded here as a contingent asset.  The classification of 

the loans will be subject to annual review and in the event that repayment is considered to be 

virtually certain, the accounting treatment will be changed accordingly. 

 

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 

Details of the material contingent liabilities that are applicable to the Council are as follows:- 

 

Large Scale Voluntary Transfer 

As part of the transfer of the Council’s housing stock to Together Housing (formerly Housing Pendle) 

on 30th October 2006, the Council gave a number of warranties and covenants to both Housing 

Pendle and their funders. These cover a range of potential liabilities which would require the Council 

to indemnify either the Housing Association or the funders in the event of these liabilities being 

realised. The likelihood of any of the liabilities arising diminishes as the time from transfer increases. 

Neither Together Housing nor its funders have indicated in any way that they intend making a claim 

against the Council under any of the warranties or covenants provided. 

 

 

 

Accountable Body Status 

The Council acts as the Accountable Body for various Government and European Programmes 

which does involve an element of risk.  There is a responsibility on the Accountable Body to manage 

the grant money received and should any project default or fail to repay an incorrectly paid grant 

the Council would have to repay the grant itself.  This potential risk is being managed and is 



Borough of Pendle                                            Page 91                  Statement Of Accounts 2020/21 

considered small particularly when measured against the considerable economic benefit generated 

by these programmes since their inception. 

 
 

39. TRUST FUNDS 

 

The Council has the following funds: 

 

     2020/21    

         Balance at  

   2020/21   Advanced   Utilised   2021/22  

   £000's   £000's   £000's   £000's  

 Mayor's War Benevolent Fund  
                    
43  

                      
-  

                      
-  

                    
43  

 Winewall Inghamites  
                    
40  

                      
-  

                      
-  

                    
40  

 Carl Pritchard  
                    
14  

                      
-  

                      
-  

                    
14  

         
     

 

                    
97  

                      
-  

                      
-  

                    
97  

 

          

 

 

As at the 31st March 2022 these funds are included within the Council’s Balance Sheet 
representing monies effectively on loan to the Council and which form part of our short-term 
borrowing as disclosed on the Balance Sheet.  This is matched by an equivalent amount within our 
cash balance. 
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COLLECTION FUND
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Collection Fund Revenue Account for the year ended 31st March 2022 

           2021/22  
 2020/21           Council Tax     NNDR     Total  
 £000's           £000's     £000's     £000's  

   Income       
     
50,738     Council Tax  

            
53,982   

                  
-   

         
53,982  

          
954     Other Income  

                   
76   

                  
-   

                
76  

               
-     Council Tax Transitional Relief  

                      
-   

                  
-   

                   
-  

     
10,541     Business Rates  

                      
-   

        
15,258   

         
15,258  

              
          
     
62,233    Total Income  

            
54,058   

        
15,258   

         
69,316  

              
          

   Expenditure       

    Precepts       
     
35,661      Lancashire County Council  

            
34,800   

          
1,683   

         
36,483  

     
14,085      Pendle Borough Council  

              
6,596   

          
7,482   

         
14,078  

       
5,129      Lancashire Police Commissioner  

              
5,411   

                  
-   

           
5,411  

       
1,907      Lancashire Combined Fire Authority  

              
1,727   

             
187   

           
1,914  

       
2,343      Town & Parish Councils  

              
2,334     

           
2,334  

       
9,399      Central Government  

                      
-   

          
9,352   

           
9,352  

       
4,069      Transfer of Collection Fund Surplus / (Deficit)  

                 
142   

         
(8,907)  

         
(8,765) 

              
          
     
72,593      

            
51,010   

          
9,797   

         
60,807  

    Business Rates       
          
131      Collection Allowance  

                      
-   

             
132   

              
132  

          
              
          
131      

                      
-   

             
132   

              
132  

    Bad and Doubtful Debts       
          
910      Bad Debts Provision  

                 
950   

             
360   

           
1,310  

       
2,881      Appeals Provision  

                      
-   

            
(107)  

            
(107) 

          
412      Write-Offs  

                 
183   

                
(3)  

              
180  

              
          
       
4,203      

              
1,133   

             
250   

           
1,383  

          
              
          
     
76,927    Total Expenditure  

            
52,143   

        
10,179   

         
62,322  

              
          
          
    
(14,694)   Surplus / (Deficit) For The Year  

              
1,915   

          
5,079   

           
6,994  

       
4,268    Surplus / (Deficit) Brought Forward  

                 
410   

       
(10,836)  

       
(10,426) 

          
    
(10,426)   Surplus / (Deficit) Carried Forward  

              
2,325   

         
(5,757)  

         
(3,432) 
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1. The Collection Fund is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for billing 

authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund.  The Statement shows the transactions of the 

billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution to local authorities and 

the Government of Council tax and non-domestic rates. 

 

2. In 2013/14, the local government finance regime was revised with the introduction of the retained 

business rates scheme.  The main aim of the scheme is to give Councils a greater incentive to grow 

businesses in their locality.  The scheme allows the Council to retain a proportion of the total 

business rates income received.  Pendle’s share for 2021/22 is 40% with the remainder paid to 

precepting bodies.  For Pendle the precepting bodies are Central Government 50% share, 

Lancashire County Council 9% and the Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 1% share.    

 

3. The total non-domestic rateable value was £52.56m as at 31st March 2022 (£52.5m as at 31st 

March 2021).  The national non-domestic rate standard multiplier for 2021/22 was 51.2p, with a 

small business multiplier of 49.9p  

 

4. The income from Business Rates shown on the face of the Collection Fund Statement is less than 

that derived by multiplying the NNDR rateable value by the NNDR multiplier primarily as a result 

of various reliefs which reduce the income yield (e.g. small business rate relief, transitional relief, 

charitable relief, empty property relief).  

 

5. To show how the Council tax base is calculated the following table details the number of chargeable 

dwellings in each valuation band. 

 
 

 2020/21       2021/22  
 Adjusted No      Band D      Council Tax Band   Adjusted No      Band D   

 of Properties     Equivalent       of Properties     Equivalent  
        

                     105   

                    
58    -A  

                          
98                    54  

                21,842   

             
14,561    A  

                   
21,834             14,556  

                  4,241   

               
3,298    B  

                     
4,209               3,274  

                  4,072   

               
3,620    C  

                     
4,133               3,674  

                  3,053   

               
3,053    D  

                     
3,067               3,067  

                  1,688   

               
2,064    E  

                     
1,693               2,069  

                     919   

               
1,328    F  

                        
924               1,335  

                     499   

                  
831    G  

                        
491                  818  

                       31   

                    
61    H  

                          
33                    67  

        

  

             
28,874                28,914  
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6. A number of adjustments are applied to the total property figure shown above to derive the actual 

tax base used for Council tax setting purposes.  The tax base for 2021/22 was calculated as follows 

expressed as a number of Band D equivalent dwellings: 

Number of Band D equivalent properties (per above)   28,914  

 Less: Class C Discount from 1st April 2021            (0)    

Adjusted gross tax base       28,914 

Less: reduction for impact of Council Tax Support discount  (3,699) 

         25.215 

Less: reduction for estimated non-collection    (1,261) 

 Net Tax Base for 2021/22      23,954 

 

 

 

 

 

7. The precepts and demands for Council Tax and Business Rates made on the Collection Fund 

together with analysis of the fund balance are shown in the tables below: 

 
Council Tax 

 
 

         Precept/     Share of      2021/22  
 2020/21         Demand     Surplus     Total  

                  
 £000's         £000's     £000's     £000's  

         

       6,637    Pendle Borough Council            6,596   

             
406   

         
7,002  

     34,249    Lancashire County Council          34,800   

          
1,592   

       
36,392  

       5,172    Lancashire Police Commissioner            5,411   

             
248   

         
5,659  

       1,733    Lancashire Combined Fire Authority            1,727   

               
79   

         
1,806  

         

     47,791            48,534   

          
2,325   

       
50,859  

 

 

Business Rates 
  
 

         Precept/     Share of      2021/22  
 2020/21         Demand     Deficit     Total  

                  
 £000's         £000's     £000's     £000's  

         

       3,810    Central Government            9,352   

        
(2,879)  

         
6,473  

       3,295    Pendle Borough Council            7,482   

        
(2,302)  

         
5,180  

          775    Lancashire County Council            1,683   

           
(518)  

         
1,165  

            83    Lancashire Combined Fire Authority               187   

             
(58)  

            
129  

         

       7,963            18,704   

        
(5,757)  

       
12,947  
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8. The Council has a statutory requirement to prepare an estimate each January of the surplus or 

deficit expected to arise at the end of the financial year.  In January 2021 it was estimated that the  

following amounts were due to / (from) the preceptors in 2021/22 

 

        
         Council     Business     2021/22  
 2020/21         Tax     Rates     Total  
                  
 £000's         £000's     £000's     £000's  

         
          
453    Central Government   

                 
-   

        
(4,624)  

       
(4,624) 

       
1,410    Pendle Borough Council   

              
25   

        
(3,454)  

       
(3,429) 

       
1,867    Lancashire County Council   

              
97   

           
(743)  

          
(646) 

          
107    Lancashire Combined Fire Authority   

                
5   

             
(86)  

            
(81) 

          
232    Lancashire Police & Crime Commissioner   

              
15   

                  
-   

              
15  

         
       
4,069     

            
142   

        
(8,907)  

       
(8,765) 

 

9. This Council is a member of the Lancashire Business Rates Pool which began on 1st April 2016. 
In a Business Rate Pool, tariffs, top-ups, levies and safety nets can be combined. This can result 
in a significantly lower levy rate or even a zero levy rate meaning that more or all of the business 
rate growth can be retained within the pool area instead of being payable to the Government. 
 

10. In 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 this Council was a member of the Lancashire Business Rates 
Pool. In a Business Rate Pool, tariffs, top-ups, levies and safety nets are combined. This can result 
in a significantly lower levy rate or even a zero levy rate meaning that more or all of the business 
rate growth can be retained within the pool area instead of being payable to the Government. 

 
The Lancashire Business Rates Pool, which included most but not all of the local authorities in 
Lancashire, was designated by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government and originally operated with allocations on the basis of the 50% business rates 
retention scheme. 
 
In 2019/20 we successfully submitted a bid along with 15 other authorities in Lancashire to become 
a 75% Business Rates Pilot Pool. This meant that 75% of collected rates were retained in 
Lancashire rather than 50%. 
 
In respect of 2020/21, the Government confirmed that 75% Business Rate Pilots would cease at 
the end of March 2020. As a result, applications for a 50% Lancashire Pool were submitted for 
2020/21 and then for 2021/22, consisting of 10 district Council’s and the county Council. 
Applications in both years were successful. The pool has operated on the same basis as in 2016/17, 
2017/18 and 2018/19 during 2020/21 and 2021/22. 
 
The business rates income allocations in 2020/21 and 2021/22 are shown in the table below: 

 
Lancashire Business Rates Pool - 

Income Allocations for  
2020/21 and 2021/22 

District Authorities 40% 

Lancashire County Council 9% 

Lancashire Combined Fire Authority 1% 

 50% 

Central Government 50% 

Total 100% 

 
As part of the pool arrangements, one authority must be designated as lead authority, which in the 
case of the Lancashire Business Rates Pool is Ribble Valley Borough Council. As part of this 
arrangement a fee of £20,000 is payable, charged equally to all members of the pool by Ribble 
Valley Borough Council in their role as lead. 



Borough of Pendle                                            Page 97                  Statement Of Accounts 2020/21 

 
The retained levy in the Lancashire Business Rates Pool has been distributed as follows: 
• Lancashire County Council is paid 10% of the overall retained levy; 
• Each district within the pool retains 90% of their levy. 

 

Lancashire Business Rates 

Pool Members 2021/22

Authority 

Type

Tariffs and Top-

Ups in Respect 

of 2021/22

£

Retained Levy 

on Growth 

2021/22

£

10% Retained 

Levy Payable 

to/received by 

Lancashire 

County Council

£

Net Retained 

Levy 2021/22

£

Burnley Borough Council Tariff 6,043,499 -1,274,399 127,440 -1,146,959

Chorley Borough Council Tariff 6,503,220 -958,378 95,838 -862,540

Fylde Borough Council Tariff 8,101,273 -285,737 28,574 -257,163

Hyndburn Borough Council Tariff 3,969,106 -1,216,541 121,654 -1,094,887

Pendle Borough Council Tariff 3,388,618 -569,005 56,901 -512,104

Ribble Valley Borough Council Tariff 4,311,424 -839,130 83,913 -755,217

Rossendale Borough Council Tariff 2,713,519 -576,607 57,661 -518,946

South Ribble Borough Council Tariff 10,327,203 -1,587,163 158,716 -1,428,447

West Lancashire Borough Council Tariff 8,698,358 -688,578 68,858 -619,720

Wyre Borough Council Tariff 6,837,509 -693,833 69,383 -624,450

Lancashire County Council Top-Up -158,098,681 -868,938 -868,938

Central Government - 97,204,952 0 0

Total 0 -8,689,371 0 -8,689,371
 

 
The Net Retained Levy for this Council is shown within Business Rates Retention income on the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, along with the Council’s own share of growth 
achieved in the year. 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion on financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements of Pendle Borough Council (the ‘Authority’) for the year 
ended 
31 March 2022, which comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income 
and 
Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Collection Fund Statement 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22. 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2022 and of its 
expenditure and income for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local 
authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) 
approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of 
our report. 
We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Director of Resources’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Authority to cease to continue as a going concern. 
In our evaluation of the Director of Resources’ conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation 
set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2021/22 that the Authority’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern 
basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the continuation of services provided by the 
Authority. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial 
statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the 
application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness 
of the basis of preparation used by the Authority and the Authority’s disclosures over the going 
concern period. 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Director of Resources’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
The responsibilities of the Director of Resources with respect to going concern are described in the 
‘Responsibilities of the Authority, the Director of Resources and Those Charged with Governance for 
the financial statements’ section of this report. 
 
Other information 
The Director of Resources is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information comprises the information included in the Annual Governance Statement and the 
Statement of Accounts, other than the financial statements, and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the 
Annual Governance Statement does not comply with ‘delivering good governance in Local 
Government Framework 2016 Edition’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE or is misleading or 
inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to 
consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are 
satisfactorily addressed by internal controls. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements 
and our knowledge of the Authority, the other information published together with the financial 
statements in the Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law 
under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion 
of the audit; or; 

 we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 
 
Responsibilities of the Authority, the Director of Resources and Those Charged with 
Governance for the financial statements 
As explained in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Authority is required to make arrangements for 
the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the 
responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Director of 
Resources. The Director of Resources is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of 
Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in 
the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Director of 
Resources determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, the Director of Resources is responsible for assessing the 
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention by government 
that the services provided by the Authority will no longer be provided. 
The Accounts and Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with 
Governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 



Borough of Pendle                                            Page 101                  Statement Of Accounts 2020/21 

the basis of these financial statements. 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, 
including 
fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable 
risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the 
audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK). 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed 
below: 

 We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the 
Authority and determined that the most significant, which are directly relevant to specific assertions 
in the financial statements, are those related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting 
standards as interpreted and adapted by the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority 
accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and the Local Government Act 2003, Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 1992) and the Local 
Government Finance Act 2012. 

 We enquired of senior officers and the Accounts and Audit Committee, concerning the Authority’s 
policies and procedures relating to: 

 the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations; 
 the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and 
 the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with 

laws and regulations. 
 We enquired of senior officers, internal audit and the Accounts and Audit Committee, whether they 

were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any 
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 

 We assessed the susceptibility of the Authority’s financial statements to material misstatement, 
including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’ incentives and opportunities for manipulation 
of the financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of 
controls. We determined that the principal risks were in relation to: 

 management override of controls, in particular journals, management estimates and transactions 
outside the course of business 

 closing journals posted during the preparation of the financial statements. 
 Our audit procedures involved: 
 evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Director of Resources has in place to 

prevent and detect fraud; 
 journal entry testing, with a focus on the material year end transactions and manual journals 

posted during the year with high risk characteristics; 
 challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting 

estimates in respect of land and buildings and defined pensions liability valuations; 
 assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our 

procedures on the related financial statement item. 
 These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to 
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that 
result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further 
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the 
financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. 

 The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations, 
including the potential for fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition, and the significant 
accounting estimates related to land and buildings and defined benefit pensions liability valuations. 

 Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the 
engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's. 

 understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and 
complexity through appropriate training and participation 

 knowledge of the local government sector 
 understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Authority including: 
 the provisions of the applicable legislation 
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 guidance issued by CIPFA/LASAAC and SOLACE 
 the applicable statutory provisions. 
 In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of: 
 the Authority’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its services 

and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, account balances, 
expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material 
misstatement. 

 the Authority's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by the 
Authority to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting framework. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the Authority’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources 
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Authority’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been 
able to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022. 
Our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources is not yet complete. The outcome of our work will be reported in our commentary on 
the Authority’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual Report. If we identify any significant weaknesses 
in these arrangements, these will be reported by exception in a further auditor’s report. We are 
satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on our opinion on the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2022. 
 
Responsibilities of the Authority 
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to 
review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing 
economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied 
that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects 
of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 
guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This guidance sets out 
the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these 
arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on 
arrangements under three specified reporting criteria: 

 Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 
continue to deliver its services; 

 Governance: how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 
manages its risks; and 

 Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Authority uses information about its 
costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. 
We document our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for each of these 
three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and 
commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we consider whether there is 
evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in 
certification of completion of the audit 
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for Pendle Borough Council for 
the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed: 

 our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources and issued our Auditor’s Annual Report’ 
We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2022. 
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Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments 
Limited. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and 
the 
Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 

Georgia Jones 

 

Name Georgia Jones, Key Audit Partner 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 
 
Liverpool 
 
14 November 2023  
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APPENDIX 1 

EARMARKED RESERVES 2021/22 

 

• Renewals Reserve – is a source of funding for the Council’s Asset Management Strategy; 

• Budget Strategy Reserve – provides general support to the Council’s annual spending 
priorities 

• VAT Partial Exemption Reserve - exists to provide a balance of resources to meet the costs in 
any single year arising from the Council exceeding its partial exemption limit; 

• Revenue Expenditure Reserve – contains miscellaneous service related balances and also 
covers slippage of revenue budgets from one year to another; 

• Change Management Reserve – established to provide funding for the Council to deal with 
changes in the delivery of services as and when they arise; These funds have been merged 
into a new Transformation Reserve. 

• Transformation Reserve – Set up to provide funding for required changes in the provision of 
Council services. 

• Pensions Reserve – to provide cover for changes in Employers’ contribution rates; 

• Local Development Framework Reserve – to cover any resource implications of the 
framework; 

• Insurance/Risk Management Reserve – to cover potential uninsured losses and support 
investment in measures to reduce risk; 

• Performance Reserve – to provide funding to meet the cost of incentive payments to Liberata 
arising from the performance management framework agreed as part of the contract with the 
Council; 

• Developers’ Contributions Reserve – contains payments made by Developers under S106 
Planning Obligations which are used to fund the Council’s revenue costs primarily in 
maintaining new  or redeveloped areas of public open space; 

• External Funding Receipts Reserve – contains the balance of unapplied revenue grant 
monies paid to the Council for a mix of projects where the Council has met the grant 
conditions (if any) and the income has been recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

• Business Growth Incentive – to provide a source of funding to invest in business growth within 
the Borough as part of the Council’s ‘gearing for growth’ initiative; 

• Portas Pilot Reserve – to support initiatives aimed at re-generating Nelson Town Centre using 
funding received under the Government’s Portas Pilot Initiative which aims to improve high 
streets and town centres; 

• High Street Innovation Fund Reserve – to use Government grant funding to support local 
town centres and reduce the number of empty shops; 

• ICT Strategy Reserve – to fund costs associated with upgrading IT equipment and software; 

• Staff Development / Modern Apprentices Reserve –  funding for staff training, development 
and the recruitment of young persons as Modern Apprentices; 

• PEARL Development Reserve – to facilitate the Council’s funding support for proposals 
undertaken as part of the Council’s joint venture arrangements with Barnfield Investment 
Properties; 

• Community Projects Reserve – to enable local groups (including town and parish Councils), 
via one-off support, to deliver or sustain local projects and services; 

• Business Rates Volatility Reserve – to mitigate the uncertainty surrounding the level of 
business rate income and the fluctuations that can arise one year to the next, primarily due to 
the impact of business rate appeals; 

• Growth Sites Development Reserve – to help facilitate the identification and development of 
sites owned by the Council to support future growth in jobs and housing in the Borough. 

• Community Investment Reserve – to fund asset improvement projects within the borough. 
Each Councillor was awarded a one-off allocation of £2,040 with no expiring date. 

• New Homes Bonus Resilience Reserve – established to smooth out any potential reductions 
to this funding source as a result of potential changes to allocation methodologies. 

• Energy Reserve – to provide a source of funding to help the Council with the rising cost of 
Utilities. 

• One-off Projects reserve – to give the Council flexibility to make changes to ways of working. 

• Future High Streets Reserve – to fund the Council’s plans to make high streets and town 
centres fit for the future. 

• Towns Fund Reserve – established to set aside sums in support of the Government’s plan to 
‘level up’ regions. 
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APPENDIX 2  

Summary of Council Service Areas in 2021/22 

Directorate 

• Corporate management of the Council  

• Policy Development 

• Community Based Projects 

• COVID-19 Response  

• Communications 

 

Financial Services (includes services provided under a public/private partnership arrangement by 
Liberata)   

• Organisational Subscriptions    

• Donations to external bodies    

• Audit fees, bank charges and bad debt provisions 

• Pensions 

• Earby & Salterforth Drainage Board    

• Insurances    

• Facilities operated by Pendle Leisure Limited    

• Telephony 

 

Services provided by Liberata (included within Financial Services) 

• Human Resources 

• Information Technology 

• Property Services (including misc. land and property, administrative buildings, Markets and 
Industrial Estates) 

• Council Tax – administration, billing and recovery 

• Council Tax Support administration 

• Housing Benefit administration 

• Business Rates – administration, billing and recovery 

• Customer Contact Centre 

• Mortgages 

 
Democratic & Legal Services 

• Mayoralty & Member Services    

• Registration of Electors    

• Council Elections    

• Local Land Charges    

• Town Twinning & Civic Expenses    

• Printing Unit    
  

Planning, Economic Development & Regulatory Services 

• Building Control    

• Development Management    

• Planning Policy    

• General Environmental Enhancement    

• Licensing (excluding Taxis)    

• Taxi Licensing  

• Tourism 

• Economic Development and Promotion   
   

Environmental Services 

• Street Cleansing    

• Domestic Waste Collection    

• Trade Waste    

• Recycling Initiatives          

• Emergency Planning/Health and Safety    

• Depot    

• Parks   

• Playing Fields 

• Parks Games  
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• Open Spaces    

• Playgrounds    

• Picnic Sites    

• Cemeteries    

• Landscape Maintenance 

• Countryside Access 

• Enforcement Team  

• Environmental Action Group 
 

Housing, Health & Engineering 

• Homelessness    

• Private Sector Housing    

• Women's Refuge    

• Tourism      

• Food Hygiene    

• Air Pollution    

• Noise Control    

• Occupational Health    

• Public Health    

• Pest Control  

• Town Centres 

• Reclamation 

• Private Street Works    

• District Highways      

• Car Parking    

• Bus Route Subsidies    

• Passenger Shelters    

• Bus Stations    

• Land Drainage    

• Cycleways    
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TERMS USED  DEFINITION OF TERMS 
 

Accruals  The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they 
are earned or incurred, not as money is received or paid. 

 
Accumulated Absences Absences earned but not taken by the end of the financial year 

i.e. holiday pay entitlement. 
 
Amortisation The writing down in value of tangible fixed assets, which is 

charged to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of such 
assets, used in the provision of those services. This is the 
equivalent of depreciation for fixed assets. 

 
Assets Something of worth which is measurable in monetary terms 
 
Balance Sheet A statement of the recorded assets, liabilities and reserves at the 

end of an accounting period. 
 
Budgets  A statement of the Council’s forecast spend - i.e. net revenue 

expenditure for the year. 
 
Business Rates  See Non-Domestic Rates. 
 
Capital Charges  This represents charges made to services’ revenue accounts to 

reflect the cost of fixed assets used in the provision of services. 
 
Capital Expenditure  Expenditure on the acquisition of a fixed asset or expenditure 

which adds to and not merely maintains the value of an existing 
fixed asset. 

 
Capital Receipts  Proceeds or money received from the sale of land or other 

capital assets. Under the Local Government Act 1989, a 
proportion must be set aside to provide for the repayment of debt 
and the balance is available to finance new capital expenditure. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents Money held either as cash-in-hand, a deposit with a financial 

institution repayable without penalty on notice of no more than 
24 hours or investments that mature within 3 months from the 
date of acquisition. 

 
CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
 
Community Assets  These are assets which the Council intends to hold forever, 

which have an indeterminable useful life and in addition may 
have restrictions on their disposals. Examples include parks, 
historic buildings, cemeteries, etc. 

 
Contingent Liability  A condition which exists at the balance sheet date, which may 

arise in the future but where the outcome will be confirmed only 
on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future 
events. 

 
Creditors  Amounts owned by the Council for work done, goods received or 

services rendered, for which payment has not been made at the 
date of the balance sheet. 

 
Debtors  Sums of money due to the Council but which are unpaid at the 

date of the balance sheet. 
 
DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
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Depreciation  The measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other reduction 
in the economic life of a fixed asset, whether arising from use, 
passage of time or obsolescence through technological or other 
changes. 

 

Effective Interest Rate  The rate of return that provides a level yield on a financial asset 
through to maturity date (or the next re-pricing date). To look at it 
another way, it is the rate that exactly discounts the cash flows 
associated with the financial instrument through to maturity (or 
the next re-pricing date) to the net carrying amount at initial 
recognition, i.e. a constant rate on the carrying amount. 

 
Expected Credit Loss The calculated amount of an expected loss on a financial asset 

e.g. a borrower defaults on their obligations at some point in the 
future.  

 
Fair Funding Review A review by Central Government on baseline funding allocations 

to Local Authorities through an assessment of their relative 
needs and resources. 

 

Fair Value  Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm's length transaction. 

 

Finance Lease  Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
Financial Assets Cash, bonds, deposits, loan and debtors, and shares in another 

organisation, are all examples of financial assets.  
 

Financial instrument  Any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

 

Financial Liabilities Include borrowings, other financing and bank overdrafts, 
derivative instruments and accounts and notes payable. 

 
 

General Fund Services  This comprises all services provided by the Council.  The net 
cost of general fund services is met by Council Tax, Government 
grants and business rates. 

 

Historical Cost  This represents the original cost of acquisition, construction or 
purchase of a fixed asset. 

 
IAS International Accounting Standard 
 
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard 
 

Impairment A reduction in the value of a fixed asset below its value brought 
forward in the balance sheet. Examples of factors which may 
cause such a reduction in value include, general price 
decreases, a significant decline in a fixed asset’s market value 
and evidence of obsolescence or physical damage to the asset. 

 

Infrastructure Assets These are inalienable assets (i.e. assets where ownership 
cannot be transferred) from which benefit can be obtained only 
by continued use of the asset created. Examples of such assets 
are highways, footpaths, bridges, etc. 

 
Liabilities Money the Council will have to pay to people or organisations. 
 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision This is the minimum amount which must be charged to the 

Council’s revenue account each year to provide for the 
repayment of loans used to finance capital expenditure. The 
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minimum amount is a percentage of the total capital financing 
requirement of the Council. 

 
MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
 
 
Net Current Replacement Cost  This represents the cost of replacing or recreating a particular 

asset in its existing condition and in its existing use. That is the 
cost of replacing an asset, adjusted to reflect the current 
condition of the existing asset. 

 

Net Realisable Value  The open market value of an asset in its existing use less any 
expenses incurred in realising the asset. 

 
Non-Current Assets 
(formerly Fixed Assets)  Include investments, accounts and notes receivable, short-term 

investments, including derivative instruments, and cash and cash 
equivalents. 

 

Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR)  These are business rates collected locally by the Council and 
shared between the Council, Government, County Council and 
the Fire Authority.  

 

Operating Lease A lease other than a finance lease. 
 

Operational Assets  These are fixed assets held and occupied, used or consumed by 
the Council in the direct delivery of those services for which it 
has a responsibility. 

 

Precepts  The proportion of total Council Tax which is due to local parishes 
and various authorities in Lancashire (e.g. the Police & Crime 
Commissioner; the Fire Authority and the County Council) and 
which is collected on their behalf by the Council. 

 

Public Works Loan Board  A government agency which provides long-term loans to local 
authorities at interest rates lower than prevailing market rates. 
The Council is able to borrow a proportion of its capital financing 
requirements from this source. 

 

Recharges  The transfer of costs within the Council from one account to 
another to reflect work undertaken on behalf of another service. 

 

Reserves  These are amounts set aside from balances to meet specific 
items of future expenditure. There are revenue and capital 
reserves. 

 

Revenue Contributions  A method of financing capital expenditure through the revenue 
account. 

 

Revenue Expenditure  This represents day to day running costs incurred in the 
provision of Council services. Such costs principally include 
employees’ costs, supplies & services costs, etc. 

 

Revenue Support Grant (RSG)  A grant paid to the Council by the Government to finance the 
Council’s general expenditure ‘needs’ and not specific services, 
after taking into account the level of Council Tax and NNDR 
income. 

 
SeRCOP  Service Reporting Code of Practice. This Code of Practice 

provides guidance to Local Authorities on how to classify costs 
for comparative purposes between Authorities. The Code of 
Practice is the accounting guidance developed by CIPFA in 
support of the Government’s Best Value Legislation. 

 
SOLACE Society of Local Authority Chief Executives. 

 



Borough of Pendle                                            Page 111                  Statement Of Accounts 2020/21 

Unusable Reserves Reserves that the Council is not able to use to provide services 
as they reflect unrealised gains and losses and associated 
accounting adjustments. 

 
Usable Reserves Reserves that the Council may use to provide services subject to 

maintaining a prudent level and any statutory limitations. 
 

Working Balances  This represents the accumulated surplus (excess of income over 
expenditure) on the Council’s revenue accounts i.e. General 
Fund. 


